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          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Good afternoon,

          3  everyone. Welcome to the hearing of the Civil

          4  Service and Labor.  My name is Joe Addabbo.  I'll be

          5  Chairing this Committee hearing.

          6                 First, I want to thank you very much

          7  for being here.  Because you are here in number, we

          8  are out of that room, and into this room.  So that's

          9  always a good sign.  Because I think in that room,

         10  it would have been listed as a fire hazard.  So the

         11  fact that we're here and you're in number, and I

         12  really appreciate it and I thank you very much for

         13  spending some time with us today.

         14                 Again, good afternoon.  And welcome

         15  to the hearing. First let me introduce those who

         16  have put this hearing together. And I want to thank

         17  them.  To my right, the Legal Counsel, Harold Gates.

         18    To my left, Joan Povolny, or Policy Analyst.  My

         19  Legislative Aide, Steve Adonisio.  Welcome colleague

         20  Council Member Seabrook, a member of this Committee.

         21    And I will be introducing members of the Committee

         22  as they come along.   But again, good afternoon and

         23  welcome to the hearing.

         24                 Today we're going to do an oversight

         25  hearing on an issue that affects tens of thousands
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          2  of City employees, and hundreds of employees who

          3  work in local pharmacies.  And that issue is the

          4  issue of mandatory mail- order prescription drugs.

          5  The escalating costs of prescription drugs presents

          6  an enormous challenge to individuals consumers,

          7  employers, pharmacies, suppliers, City workers, and

          8  the unions that represent them.  The rising cost of

          9  drugs have forced employers and their agents to

         10  impose co-payments and deductibles, and to turn to

         11  the use of pharmacy benefit managers, also known as

         12  PBMs.  PBMs administer drug plans for approximately

         13  200 million Americans.

         14                 Employers and PBMs favor mail- order

         15  prescription drugs because they contend that drug

         16  manufacturers offer them deep discounts and

         17  lucrative rebates when they buy in volume.  But

         18  these rebates and discounts are debatable.  But

         19  what's not debatable is the negative impact that

         20  they have on our City workforce, the local

         21  pharmacies and suppliers.

         22                 There are also concerns as to time,

         23  accuracy, safety, and security with mailing

         24  prescription drugs.  In light of the serious issues

         25  raised by mandatory mail- order prescription drug
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          2  programs, this Committee intends to explore

          3  alternatives to the program and the impact of our

          4  City workforce.

          5                 And once again, I thank you for being

          6  here.  At this point, I want to introduce our first

          7  witness of the day.  It's from the Administration.

          8  The Commissioner James Hanley, Officer of Labor

          9  Relations Commissioner.  Always a pleasure to have

         10  you back here.  And thank you for your time.

         11                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: Good morning.

         12  As you indicated, my name is James F. Hanley.  I am

         13  the Commissioner of Labor Relations for the City of

         14  New York.  And my primary responsibility is to

         15  represent the Mayor in the conduct of labor

         16  relations with all of its various unions.

         17                 I'm here today to describe the matter

         18  in which prescription drug coverage is provided to

         19  employees and retirees of the City of New York.  For

         20  the majority of employees represented in collective

         21  bargaining, prescription drug coverage is provided

         22  through their union- administered welfare funds.

         23  Others may receive coverage through their respective

         24  health plan's optional rider.  In addition, coverage

         25  is provided to all employees, and non- Medicare
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          2  retirees for two specific category of drugs:

          3  Injectables and chemotherapy, through the PICA

          4  program.

          5                 Of the 330,000 employees enrolled in

          6  the City's Health Benefits Program, 95 percent are

          7  provided prescription drug coverage through union-

          8  administered welfare funds.  Of the 210,000

          9  retirees, 42 percent have prescription drug coverage

         10  through their welfare funds.  Employees and retirees

         11  who do not have coverage through a welfare fund can

         12  voluntarily purchase drug coverage through their

         13  health plan.  The premiums for this coverage are

         14  fully paid by the employees and the retirees.

         15                 The City of New York remits and

         16  annual per capita contribution, on average, $1,575

         17  to each union welfare fund on behalf of active and

         18  retired members.  The amount the City contributes to

         19  each union welfare fund is a matter for collective

         20  bargaining.  The union welfare funds have the sole

         21  responsibility of determining the design of the

         22  supplementary benefits they provide to their

         23  members, including whether to provide prescription

         24  drug coverage to their members.  The City does not

         25  have jurisdiction over the administration of the
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          2  union welfare funds, nor does the City mandate which

          3  benefits are provided to the union's members.

          4                 The design of the benefits, and any

          5  changes to the design of the City's health plan is

          6  subject to an agreement by the City and the

          7  Municipal Labor Committee.  The MLC, or the

          8  Municipal Labor Committee comprises representatives

          9  of the labor unions who represent the City's

         10  workforce in the collective bargaining process.

         11  Randi Weingarten, the President of the United

         12  Federation of Teachers, is the chair of the

         13  committee.  She chairs the committee.

         14                 As I mentioned before, all employees

         15  and non Medicare retirees are covered by the PICA

         16  program.  The PICA program currently covers only

         17  injectables and chemotherapy drugs. This program is

         18  the result of collective bargaining agreements

         19  between the City and the Municipal Labor Committee.

         20  The program was first implemented in July 2001, and

         21  originally carved out four classes of drugs from

         22  welfare funds and health plans.  They were

         23  psychotropic, injectable, chemotherapy, and asthma

         24  drugs.  Last year, the City and the MLC agreed to

         25  remove psychotropic and asthma drugs from the plan,
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          2  and reverted the coverage for these drugs back to

          3  the welfare funds and/or the health plans.  This

          4  change took place on July 1, 2005.  The PICA program

          5  is paid for by the Stabilization Fund, which was set

          6  up in 1986 as the result of collective bargaining.

          7  The City makes regular contributions to this fund.

          8                 Other changes, as agreed to by the

          9  City and the MLC have been made to the PICA program

         10  over time, in order to contain the costs of the

         11  program, and to extend its viability.  These changes

         12  include, among other things, co- payment increases

         13  and mandatory mail- order for maintenance drugs,

         14  which are medications needed on a long- term basis.

         15  The mandatory mail- order component was implemented

         16  to take advantage of the tremendous purchasing

         17  power, a price saving of five to ten percent over

         18  retail, that the pharmacy benefit manager possesses.

         19                 In conclusion, I must re- emphasize

         20  that the City has a limited role in the provision of

         21  coverage of prescription drugs for any of its

         22  employees.  As I explained, most employees who have

         23  drug coverage, receive their benefit through their

         24  own union welfare funds.  Others choose to elect

         25  coverage through a health plan optional rider, and
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          2  then pay directly for the coverage.

          3                 I have nothing further.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

          5  much Commissioner.

          6                 And at this time, let me welcome

          7  Council Member Nelson, Mike Nelson, a member of this

          8  Committee.

          9                 Commissioner again, thank you for

         10  your time and testimony.  One of the reason why  --

         11  or a number of reasons why this Committee took up

         12  this issue, knowing that it may be out of the

         13  jurisdiction of the City Council, is the fact that

         14  it does effect the City workforce, number one.

         15  Number two is there is a financial aspect to this,

         16  in that these mail- order companies are taking money

         17  out of our City.  And we're now sending this order,

         18  this prescription drug money out of the City.  And

         19  this is money that we could, with a little

         20  assistance, maybe from our colleagues over in

         21  Albany, or down in Washington, effectuate some

         22  change.

         23                 What is your opinion about these

         24  express mail companies, mandatory mail- order

         25  companies, that are out of the City, and seeing that
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          2  money go out of the City?

          3                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: Well, as I had

          4  indicated, we bargain with the unions a dollar

          5  amount, and then the unions provide a package of

          6  benefits for their individual employees. Obviously,

          7  we're always in favor of seeing more dollars and

          8  jobs stay within the City.  But we don't have

          9  control over what type of a design of a plan that

         10  each individual union chooses for their members.

         11  They usually do so with the demographics, the makeup

         12  of their bargaining unit in mind.  But obviously,

         13  we're always in favor of seeing everything stay

         14  within the City.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: And again, let

         16  me be very clear that we don't mean to put these

         17  express mail, or mandatory mail order companies out

         18  of business.  By all means, little for us to do

         19  that, but you know, more so to give our City

         20  employees a choice. If the want to mail away for

         21  their drugs, their prescription drugs, then they

         22  should have that choice.  But if they want to go

         23  down to the local pharmacy, they should be given

         24  that choice.  And that's something that I'd like to

         25  see in the long term.  Do you want to give your
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          2  opinion about that?

          3                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: Again, it's

          4  unions that you really should be talking to.  I

          5  mean, some unions do offer that type of a program.

          6  Many of them do.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Right.

          8                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: But not all of

          9  them do.  And it's a question of cost more than

         10  anything for them.  But it would be better directed

         11  to the unions themselves.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: I understand.

         13  And if I get some clarification from you,

         14  Commissioner, I appreciate it.

         15                 Now, according the Office of Labor

         16  Relation's website, a City employee that uses mail-

         17  order prescription drugs, mail- order prescriptions,

         18  must use Express Scripts.  Is that true? Is that on

         19  your website?

         20                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: I don't know

         21  what's on my  -- I'll go back and check on our

         22  latest website update, but I can only assume that

         23  that's a reference to the PICA program that I spoke

         24  about.  And the PICA program does have a mail order

         25  component. Other than that, we do not, as an
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          2  employer, we do not mandate the type of coverage

          3  that unions have for their employees.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Just for a point

          5  of clarification, you are correct.  It is under the

          6  PICA benefit overview, and it does say expressly,

          7  you must use Express Scripts Mail Order Pharmacy.

          8                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: That was

          9  negotiated with the MLC.  But that's the only place

         10  where you'll see something like that.  Where the

         11  City has that kind of involvement.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: In regards to

         13  Express Scripts, one of the largest PBMs, have you

         14  ever gotten any complaints about Express Scripts

         15  directly to you?  Have you ever heard any complaints

         16  about Express Scripts?

         17                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: An occasional

         18  letter sent to me from a retiree.  But if I've seen

         19  a half a dozen of those in the last year or so.  And

         20  believe me, our employees and our retirees are not

         21  shy about sending letters to me complaining about

         22  anything, including the weather, perhaps.  But I've

         23  seen about a half a dozen per year perhaps.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Again

         25  Commissioner, I look forward to working with you on
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          2  this issue.  I know what is within the jurisdiction

          3  of this Council.  But again, I look forward to

          4  working with the Administration.  And again, elected

          5  officials on other levels to see if we can

          6  effectuate some fair change for our City employees.

          7  But thank you very much for your time.

          8                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY: Okay.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you.

         10                 I'd like to call up our next panel.

         11  Make sure we've got the right people here.  Mr.

         12  Robert Garis.  Welcome.  And John Yacovone.  John,

         13  good to see you.  Please state your full name for

         14  the record, and your affiliation, and then please

         15  give your testimony.

         16                 MR. GARIS: My name is Robert I.

         17  Garis.  I am a professor at Creighton University

         18  School of Pharmacy.  I own a consulting firm on PBM

         19  issues, and was asked to appear here by Kisney

         20  (phonetic) and Kim Wright.  And I'm here today to

         21  speak against mandatory mail order.

         22                 Okay.  The pharmacy benefit manager,

         23  or PBM is a highly specialized entity that makes our

         24  prescription card work. There are relatively few in

         25  America.  And these PBM companies are hired by self-
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          2  insured employers, health plans, and insurance

          3  companies, to name a few.  The PBMs contract with

          4  local retail pharmacies to fill or employees

          5  prescriptions, and additionally, the PBM often owns

          6  a mail- order facility.

          7                 The plan sponsor, which may be a

          8  private corporation, union, or municipality, are

          9  frequently convinced that mail order is a bargain.

         10  The sponsors quite are so convinced of the value of

         11  mail order, that they will channel their members

         12  into the mail- order pharmacy.  The sponsor,

         13  unwittingly and on the recommendation of the PBM,

         14  offers their employees and incentive to use the

         15  mail- order pharmacy.  This incentive is often in

         16  the form of lower co- payments for mail- order

         17  prescriptions.

         18                 Let's investigate further.  A

         19  comparison of pricing terms between the mail order

         20  and community retail pharmacy will, I believe, give

         21  us valuable insights into how mail order really

         22  works.

         23                 Note the very large discount for

         24  brand drugs in the mail- order pharmacy, and compare

         25  that to a discount of perhaps 15 percent offered by
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          2  the PBM through the community retail network. Based

          3  on this information alone, one would assume that

          4  mail order is truly a better value.  However, that's

          5  only half the story.

          6                 I will proceed to the critically

          7  important part that is so often overlooked by the

          8  plan's sponsor.  Generic drugs is a frequently

          9  overlooked component.  By looking at generic drug

         10  pricing in mail order, plan sponsors will see that

         11  they're over paying for the total mail- order

         12  prescription benefit.

         13                 Note that a comparison of generic

         14  drug pricing shows that mail- order pharmacy offers

         15  a big discount of 50 percent or more, off generics.

         16  The community retail pharmacy for these generic

         17  drugs is a much lower price, which we call "maximum

         18  allowable cost" or simply MAC.  The difference in

         19  these prices can have a dramatic effect on the

         20  sponsor as we will now see.

         21                 Here is an example of generic drug

         22  pricing.  We have the exact drug and drug quantity

         23  within the same plan.  The only difference is

         24  whether the drug was filled in mail order or by the

         25  community retail pharmacy.  In this case, the
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          2  company was charged $120 when one of its members got

          3  90 generic Prozac 20mg from the mail- order

          4  pharmacy.  And the company was charged $54 for the

          5  exact prescription when a member, with the same

          6  level of benefits, got their prescription filled at

          7  the retail pharmacy.

          8                 I want to reiterate.  The previous

          9  comparison and the comparisons that follow are the

         10  same plan sponsor using the same PBM.  Additionally,

         11  the sponsor's members are getting the same generic

         12  drug in the same strength and quantity.  We will see

         13  that community retail pharmacy has consistently

         14  better prices.  This has been my findings in nearly

         15  seven years of research, and millions of

         16  prescriptions.  Let's now look at how the

         17  differences in generic drug prices come about.

         18                 A very brief description, it's quite

         19  simple. Generic drugs have two prices.  A high price

         20  that we'll call the "sticker price", also known in

         21  the industry as "average wholesale price", or AWP.

         22  The second price is a much lower price, called the

         23   "maximum allowable cost", or MAC price.

         24                 Every organization in managed

         25  pharmacy has their own MAC prices.  The big three
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          2  PBMs, namely Caremark, Express Scripts, and Medco,

          3  have multiple MAC lists.

          4                 Given this information, let's walk

          5  through one example of this two- price system, using

          6  generic Prozac.

          7                 Here we have prices for generic

          8  Prozac 20mg, in a quantity of 100.  The first four

          9  prices are the sticker prices, or AWPs, from four

         10  generic drug distributors.  You'll see the sticker

         11  price for generic Prozac averages about $266.  For

         12  your information, I've included the original brand

         13  name Prozac by Lilly, which sells for about $482.

         14                 Now the MAC price.  When we compare

         15  the sticker price of $266 to the MAC price of $25,

         16  we get a clearer picture of the fluctuations within

         17  generic drug pricing.

         18                 So in this one example, the sticker

         19  price is ten times higher than the MAC.

         20                 I'll continue this example and

         21  replicate what commonly happens in the PBM mail-

         22  order pharmacy.  The large discount of 50 percent

         23  off the sticker price of $266, yields a charge of

         24  $133 to the sponsor.  The retail pharmacy used by a

         25  member of the same plan would result in a charge of
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          2  roughly $25 to the plan sponsor.  The net result is

          3  that the sponsor is charged $108 more in the mail-

          4  order pharmacy than in the community retail

          5  pharmacy.

          6                 In my experience, this is a

          7  widespread practice.

          8                 The overcharge on generics by the

          9  mail- order pharmacy wipes out all of the savings

         10  from the big discounts off brand drugs.

         11                 Some quick examples to give you a

         12  flavor for the kinds of companies that we've looked

         13  at.

         14                 Employer number one is a freight

         15  company with about 3,000 members in the plan.  The

         16  highlighted entry, generic naprosin 500mg in a

         17  quantity of 180 pills.  From the PBM- owned mail-

         18  order pharmacy, the total price was $117.  Another

         19  of the plan members got a prescription of generic

         20  naprosin 500 in the same quantity of 180, from the

         21  retail community pharmacy.  And that prescription

         22  had a total price of $33.  That is, the sponsor paid

         23  an extra $84 to buy the same drug through the PBM

         24  mail- order pharmacy.

         25                 This company was not necessarily
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          2  naive.  They had ample resources such as a national

          3  consulting firm.  Further, the company used one of

          4  the big three PBMs for both mail and retail.

          5                 Employer number two is a

          6  transportation company with over 15,000 members.  We

          7  see the same situation.  Large differences on

          8  generic drugs between mail and community pharmacy.

          9  These, I believe, wipe out any savings that the

         10  greater discounts on mail order brands derive.

         11                 I'm going to skip to employer number

         12  four, for a reason.  This is Fortune 100 company.

         13  This firm has over 30,000 employees in the division

         14  we examined.  This company had access to all the

         15  resources one would expect of a company of that

         16  size.  For example, membership in a health care

         17  buying coalition, the services of a national health

         18  care consulting team, and in- house purchasing

         19  specialists.  The firm's PBM is one of the big

         20  three.  This example, I believe, illustrates that

         21  sponsors of all sizes and levels of sophistication

         22  are subject to this mail order markup.

         23                 My personal experience has

         24  demonstrated that sponsors who get the complete

         25  picture of mail- order pharmacy take appropriate
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          2  measures.  And make good business decisions.  One

          3  hundred percent of my clients have at least de-

          4  emphasized the use of mail order.

          5                 We have tried desperately to get more

          6  news to the public.  Here's an example, with the

          7  three companies that we talked about.  Sponsors,

          8  however, have refused to go public for fear they

          9  will look foolish to their peer companies and

         10  shareholders.

         11                 Academic evidence also supports what

         12  I've presented. I've included for the Committee two

         13  articles for your use. Researchers at both Virginia

         14  Commonwealth University and my own Creighton

         15  University concur with these results.  Both studies

         16  found that when the sponsor lowers their co-

         17  payment, the member's co payment, to use the mail-

         18  order option, the mail- order pharmacy ends up

         19  costing the sponsor more than community retail

         20  pharmacy.

         21                 Investigative reports in the press

         22  further confirm my assertions.  I also include this

         23  from the Wall Street Journal of 2/5/05 for the

         24  Committee.

         25                 In closing, I'd say that mail- order
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          2  pharmacy is not a good value for the sponsor.  All

          3  savings on mail orders are wiped out by the extra

          4  markups on generics.

          5                 Sponsors who look at the big picture

          6  have found that mandatory mail order is not a good

          7  business decision.

          8                 Thank you very much for allowing me

          9  to present this evidence today.  And I welcome any

         10  questions.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Do you have a

         12  statement? Statement?  No?

         13                 MR. YACOVONE: No, I have a statement.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Please.

         15                 MR. YACOVONE: Yes, sure.  My name is

         16  John Yacovone. I'm with Chapter 21, Local 375,

         17  District Council 37, Rank and File. Approximately

         18  almost close to 180,000 members, including retirees.

         19  I'm a Project Manager, and an Engineer with the New

         20  York City Fire Department.

         21                 Back on June 20, 2005, we had sort of

         22  a mini oversight hearing that was held in the New

         23  York City Council regarding freedom of choice, as it

         24  pertains to mandatory mail order.  And presiding

         25  over this hearing was the Honorable Councilman

                                                            23

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  Joseph Addabbo, our Labor Committee Chair.  The

          3  outcome consensus of the hearing was that the

          4  District Council 37 members were to be offered

          5  freedom of choice, to exercise whether their long-

          6  term prescriptions can be obtained either through

          7  mail order or through their own local pharmacist.

          8                 In January of 2004, District Council

          9  37 Rank and File were required to be placed into the

         10  mandatory mail order for long- term prescription

         11  drugs.  The requirement precluded the use of local

         12  community pharmacists.  The mandatory mail order

         13  firm that we're talking about presently, is Express

         14  Scripts.

         15                 The rationale for today's hearing is

         16  to revert back to the concept of freedom of choice.

         17  Based on numerous disadvantages of mandatory mail

         18  order, based on health and revenue savings for the

         19  City, District Council 37, local municipalities

         20  within New York State, as a whole.

         21                 Furthermore, what needs to be brought

         22  to the attention of everyone in this chambers is the

         23  fact there is now pending legislation in Albany,

         24  concerning two bills.  Those bills are New York

         25  State bill S.5456, and New York State Assembly bill
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          2  8.8420, that if passed as legislation, would provide

          3  all New York State residents  --  and I underscore

          4  that  --  all New York State residents with the

          5  option  --  and I underline "option"  --  to their

          6  pharmacies or to use a mail order via a

          7  pharmaceutical benefit administrator versus a

          8  pharmaceutical benefit manager.  The dynamics of

          9  which was placed on the table here with my

         10  colleague, or I consider a colleague, from the

         11  professor from Creighton University.  And he went

         12  into all of the financials.

         13                 My main objective here, on behalf of

         14  District Council 37 and it's Rank and Files is that

         15  the City Council respectfully recommend that the New

         16  York City Council initiate legislation in support,

         17  or independently in support of the two New York

         18  State bills.  At the very minimum, if this is not

         19  feasible, then the Council's unilateral support of

         20  those bills in Albany would significantly ensure the

         21  passage of those two New York State bills, S.5456

         22  and A8420.  Both respectively in the State Senate

         23  and the State Assembly.

         24                 There are many potential dangers in

         25  downsize concerning mandatory mail order.  Using a
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          2  PBM, and at the very least, employers and employees

          3  throughout the public and the private sector, mind

          4  you, should not be forced to exclusively obtain

          5  their long- term prescriptions through mandatory

          6  mail order.

          7                 Below  --  I'm just going to speak

          8  basically on the basic underpinning of what is

          9  involved with the use of mandatory mail order.

         10  Again, freedom of choice.  For those who opt to use

         11  mail order, so be it.  It is their privilege, it is

         12  their prerogative.  Below are the  --  it is safer

         13  for patients to obtain long- term prescriptions

         14  through the local pharmacist.  That, if anybody has

         15  any questions on that matter, I would be more than

         16  happy to answer those questions.

         17                 There have been individually

         18  documented instances that patients were denied

         19  specific medication, or claims were made that a

         20  specific medication was never ordered.  And I'm sure

         21  there are people within these chambers that can

         22  attest to that, including the pharmacists, and any

         23  other health professionals who are sitting in here,

         24  as well as the Rank and File from the union, or

         25  anybody who is representative of the private sector.
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          2                 Mail order through PBMs, does not

          3  save money. Again, we went through the dynamics of

          4  what the professor from Creighton University had

          5  delineated.  That with a 90- day supply of

          6  medication mailed to patients.  The PBAs, and

          7  affiliated local pharmacists can actually provide

          8  the very same goal that translates with both safety

          9   --  and I underscore "safety"  --  and substantial

         10  savings.  Mail order can become extremely

         11  complicated for the sick and elderly.  Especially

         12  those who are taking several medications.  Are

         13  paying your physician's prescription with your right

         14  hand, and go to your pharmacists, to your local

         15  pharmacists, to have a prescription filled and

         16  forwarding to him or her with your left hand.

         17  Direct and easy.  Any questions or problems can

         18  immediately be addressed and answered.

         19                 Patients often do not obtain their

         20  needed medications within a timely fashion.  Which

         21  is very critical for people that are on long- term

         22  medications.  We have to understand that what we're

         23  talking about are long- term medications like

         24  Inderal LLA, Avipro, these are medications that

         25  people must be on for the most part, for a lifetime.
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          2  We're not talking about cold remedies, where we can

          3  indeed go to our local pharmacist.

          4                 The paperwork can also become overly

          5  complex for the sick and the elderly to order

          6  medications.  It is recommended that each order has

          7  associated with it a confirmation number.  This is

          8  particularly true of one has to take several

          9  medications.  With the PBMs I have encountered this

         10  personally, by people who have approached me that

         11  have had problems ordering their long- term

         12  prescriptions.  And for the most part, they were not

         13  aware, or even informed that they were to have a

         14  confirmation number so that they can track their

         15  prescriptions when they were needed or when they

         16  were needed to be delivered on a timely basis.

         17                 Another complicated issue is that

         18  phone inquiries are necessary in order to obtain

         19  medication, and force people to use lengthy phone

         20  prompts which waste time.  All of us are familiar

         21  with the dynamics involved with that.  Most of us

         22  wait until we can speak to a person, the H factor.

         23                 Pharmacists do not often dispense

         24  medications, but in the PBMs, you have customer

         25  advocates who are dispensing medications.  There may
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          2  be one pharmacist who supervises several customer

          3  advocates.  New York State does not permit non-

          4  pharmacists to dispense medication.

          5                 A lot of these dynamics have been

          6  brought out by the National Legislative Association

          7  of Prescription Drug Prices, the NLARX.  Often, the

          8  PBM will override a doctor's decision by

          9  recommending a switch of one medication with the

         10  generic or a formulary substitute.  Formulary

         11  substitute.  By that they mean the RU back

         12  (phonetic) name, the chemical name.  The chemistry

         13  of the drug.  A physician must validate this.  This

         14  can be dangerous as a patient may react differently

         15  towards a generic or a substitute, since there may

         16  be substantial differences between the two.

         17                 Many physicians have complained that

         18  if a patient has a problem with a specific

         19  prescription or generally needs to communicate with

         20  a mail- order pharmacist, such contact can be both

         21  difficult and sometimes, without success on a timely

         22  basis.  If indeed, he can even contact that

         23  pharmacist.

         24                 There is much to be said and is

         25  valid, when a physician and a pharmacist establish a
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          2  medical rapport concerning patients and/or

          3  concerning a dosage adjustment or a change of

          4  prescription.

          5                 Local pharmacists know their

          6  patients.  And could immediately contact a patient's

          7  local physician if there is a contraindication with

          8  a prescribed medication.

          9                 Mail orders are not audited, pursuant

         10  to New York State guidelines, and many are located

         11  outside of New York State. And I speak specifically

         12  in accordance with the PBMs.  Thereby having

         13  immunity towards quality control of pharmaceutical

         14  prescriptions.

         15                 Many mail order medications, since

         16  they are shipped, and are temperature sensitive, can

         17  be mishandled, damaged, and have a negative effect

         18  because of sensitivity to temperature changes.

         19                 In addition, mail orders are often

         20  shipped to a patient's place of employment.  That's

         21  a downside.  Since if one works, medications can be

         22  stolen or non- deliverable at their home mailboxes.

         23                 Another important factor that has

         24  come to our attention is the fact that often, on a

         25  90- day supply of medications cannot be used because
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          2  of the change of medication via prescription or a

          3  dosage, depending again on the dynamics of a

          4  patient's health.

          5                 A PBM mail order, with the use of an

          6  affiliated  -- this is not the case.  The PBMs are

          7  not accountable to how money os being allocated with

          8  savings.  This is not encountered with the use of a

          9  PBA or an affiliated pharmacist, who chooses to join

         10  a PBA.

         11                 Moreover, mandatory mail order is a

         12  form of anti trust, since you are required to use

         13  one pharmacy.  A PBM mail order at a remote

         14  location.  Mandatory mail order causes New York

         15  State and its municipalities along with many other

         16  states, on a national level, to lose revenue.  Since

         17  their domicile is in another state.  For example,

         18  presently, New York City is using Express Scripts,

         19  formerly it was CFI.  They changed their name to

         20  Express Scripts.  Not beknownst (sic) to us, a few

         21  months ago, they moved from Harrisburg, Pennsylvania

         22  to Bent Salem.  So in that interim, a lot of people

         23  had their prescriptions lost in the mix, and did not

         24  receive their said prescriptions on the timely

         25  basis.
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          2                 I know I can only  --  in summation,

          3  I can only speak from my own experience in dealing

          4  with the issue of the sick and the elderly, who are

          5  more often required to take more than one

          6  medication.  And they have all they can do to take

          7  their medication, even with the tablet breakdown of

          8  day by day.  Let alone ordering a mail order.

          9  Trying to keep track of when my prescription is due.

         10

         11                 So, what I'm saying is, it is

         12  respectfully requested that all Honorable Council

         13  Members review and lend their support or initiate

         14  their own bill in conjunction with those two New

         15  York State bills, now pending in Albany.  This

         16  legislation provides for freedom of choice regarding

         17  mail order prescriptions.

         18                 If there are any questions, I would

         19  be glad to feel them out.  Anybody  --  it's just

         20  that I know I've been getting a lot of negative

         21  feedback on mail order.  And thanks to our local,

         22  Mr. Fred Newton, the Labor Political Chair

         23  Committee, Honorable Council Member Weprin, on

         24  February 9th, and Honorable Council Member Joseph

         25  Addabbo, listen to the dynamics that was involved
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          2  with the mail order, in conjunction to what has been

          3  said today. And I certainly hope that for the

          4  benefit of all New Yorkers, and when I say all New

          5  Yorkers, I'm not only speaking for District Council

          6  37, I'm speaking for people who work within the

          7  private sector, for all New York State residents,

          8  that we remand ourselves to the option of utilizing

          9  our local pharmacists.  Because to me, it's the

         10  flight of the crow.  It's the most direct method of

         11  getting our medications.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         13  much.

         14                 Mr. Yacovone, thank you very much for

         15  your statement.  If you would please give me a copy

         16  of your statement, send it to my office, just so I

         17  can make it part of our files.

         18                 MR. YACOVONE: Absolutely no problem.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay.  I also at

         20  this point  -- we have a couple of questions?

         21  You're not getting off that easy.

         22                 I would be remiss if at this point I

         23  don't thank the Sergeant- at- Arms for moving the

         24  machinery so we can see the Powerpoint in this room

         25  as opposed to the next room.  So I want to thank the
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          2  Sergeant- at- Arms for doing that.

          3                 A couple of things.  First, the focus

          4  of this Committee, as it was last June when we did

          5  the first hearing, will always be the freedom of

          6  choice.  That's what started, in my opinion, that's

          7  what started me in formulating this hearing.  That I

          8  do believe all people should be given a freedom of

          9  choice.  If they want to mail away for their

         10  prescription drugs, go right ahead.  But they should

         11  be given the opportunity to go to their local

         12  pharmacy.  That's what makes a community.  I still

         13  go to my local pharmacy.  And I think that's what

         14  makes a community.  So we will always focus on

         15  giving people the freedom of choice.

         16                 And at this point, this Committee is

         17  actually doing language on a resolution supporting

         18  the two pieces of legislation pending in the State

         19  legislature.  So we look forward to supporting that

         20  by a resolution to be committed to the City Council.

         21    So we will do that very soon.

         22                 MR. YACOVONE: As an aside, I would

         23  like to reiterate that Commissioner Hanley was right

         24  indeed, that it is a union issue with City employees

         25  on the dynamics of how we choose to get our drugs.

                                                            34

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: And I wanted to

          3  ask you a question about that, but before we do, if

          4  I may, because I know he has a busy schedule, I

          5  wanted to introduce to you at this point, for a

          6  statement, the Chair of our Finance Committee,

          7  Council Member David Weprin, for a statement.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN: Good

          9  afternoon.  I want to thank Chairman Addabbo for

         10  permitting me to comment at this hearing.

         11                 The issue surrounding mandatory mail-

         12  order prescriptions are disconcerting to me for

         13  several reasons.  First and foremost, for millions

         14  of New Yorkers, the independent pharmacist is the

         15  most reliable and convenient way of obtaining

         16  prescriptions.  They're in the neighborhood, are

         17  well trained, and caring.  They know their

         18  customers, and can offer the personal attention that

         19  can't be offered through a mail- order company.

         20                 I am concerned that those enrolled in

         21  the City's health plan and who must, and I repeat

         22  must, then order their prescriptions via Express

         23  Scripts, are not receiving the quality of care they

         24  deserve.  Over the phone contact with a pharmacist

         25  cannot take the place of face- to- face contact.
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          2  And the lapse in time between the ordering of a drug

          3  through the mail- order company, and arrival of that

          4  drug can sometimes disrupt the patient's necessary

          5  prescription's intake.

          6                 Second, as Chairman of the City

          7  Council's Finance Committee, I am concerned that the

          8  accusations placed on the prescription mail- order

          9  company contracted by the City may be correct.  The

         10  independent pharmacy is being threatened by PBMs, AS

         11  we heard testimony, Pharmacy Benefit Managers.  They

         12  require mandatory mail order.  While advertised as a

         13  way to save money, they often charge more than the

         14  neighborhood pharmacy.  As we heard testimony.

         15  Overall, they offer less choice and impose higher

         16  costs.

         17                 The inflation of prescription costs

         18  is not only appalling, it is costly to our City and

         19  our taxpayers.  The intention of contracting with a

         20  mail- order company was to save New York City money,

         21  not cost more.

         22                 The neighborhood pharmacy can hold

         23  its own in a fair fight.  But PBMs do not fight fair

         24  on a level playing field.  As we just heard

         25  testimony from PC 37, a union representing
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          2  approximately 180,000 members, requires all of their

          3  employees to use only a mail- order prescription for

          4  maintenance medications.  The union has begun, as we

          5  heard testimony, to see that mandatory mail- order

          6  programs are not in the best interest of its

          7  members.  They are now exploring, as we heard, a

          8  program that will offer their members more choice,

          9  less costs, and the ability to make use of community

         10  pharmacies.  This is a great first step.  And I call

         11  upon all other City unions to investigate this

         12  possibility as well.

         13                 Once again, I applaud Chairman

         14  Addabbo for looking further into this important

         15  issue and supporting the holding of this hearing

         16  today.  And I join with him as a  --  I will join

         17  with him as a prime sponsor of the resolution urging

         18  Albany to act. Thank you.

         19                 Thank you very much Council Member

         20  Weprin.  Thank you very much for your support as

         21  well.

         22                 I'm sorry to keep you waiting.  A

         23  couple of quick questions.

         24                 MR. YACOVONE: Sure.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: I believe the
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          2  job that needs to be done is to educate the other

          3  unions that are out there that are still using

          4  Express Scripts, and other, again, mail- order

          5  companies.  And just so that the public here knows,

          6  Express Scripts was invited to come here today to

          7  testify.  I wish they would have. Like they did in

          8  June of 2005, when we had the first hearing, they

          9  declined to come here.  But I wish they were here.

         10  But I do believe, and I'd like to get your take on

         11  the fact that we need to educate, obviously, and

         12  inform the other unions, so that there can be a

         13  trend to move to those companies that do provide a

         14  choice.

         15                 MR. YACOVONE: Well, I think the

         16  viable alternative to that would be for may through

         17  Fred Denzelback (phonetic), chair committee, maybe

         18  he should invite other Local presidents so that we

         19  can explain the dynamics and the downsides of this,

         20  in order to lend further research and support.  Mind

         21  you, we are facing a national health crisis here.

         22  Between Medicare Part D, and there's other issues

         23  that are major distractions, Social Security.  We

         24  got so many issues that are on our plate that it's

         25  not a full plate, it's just circuit overload.  And
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          2  this is one of the many issues here that needs to be

          3  addressed.  To keep costs down, to keep our citizens

          4  healthy, and to simultaneously provide them with the

          5  best health care that we can, within a reasonable

          6  amount.  And also to save the union money.

          7                 And again, I think that the

          8  ramifications go far beyond City employees.  It

          9  think it affects employers and employees in the

         10  private sector.  It even affects within the City

         11  agencies. It affects our Commissioners, our

         12  Assistant Commissioner, our Deputy Commissioners,

         13  our Project Managers, our Managers.  Our clerks.

         14  It's an all- important issue that I think really

         15  needs to be addressed.  And I think that we were

         16  erroneously placed into this without enough of

         17  information.  And I'm speaking extemporaneously on

         18  this point, because I feel so strongly about this

         19  issue, that we need to reach out to our local

         20  pharmacists.

         21                 They are the ones, that if we have a

         22  problem with, the problem can be immediately

         23  addressed, and a phone call can be patched

         24  immediately to a physician.  Because within a local

         25  area, the physicians and the pharmacists have
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          2  established a very positive rapport with each other.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Well, I want to

          4  thank you very much for your input and for your

          5  testimony.  Thank you.

          6                 At this point, I'd like to call up

          7  our next panel, a panel of three.  Bill Scheer,

          8  James Detura, and Marisa Palma.

          9                 Welcome to the hearing today.  If you

         10  just state your full name and affiliation for the

         11  record, and then give your testimony.

         12                 MR. SCHEER: My name is Bill Scheer.

         13  I'm the President of the State Society of

         14  Pharmacists, and I'm also the Chairman of the New

         15  York City Society for Pharmacists.  We represent

         16  community pharmacy throughout the State.  And in the

         17  five boroughs of New York.

         18                 I'd like to echo, at this point, Mr.

         19  Yacovone's comments, and just say that, you know,

         20  pharmacists, as that final person in the health care

         21  continuum, are the persons who interact most with

         22  the patients.  And with mandatory mail order, aside

         23  from the financial aspects, our patients are not

         24  getting the best health care they can.  In many

         25  cases, they come to us for everyday needs. In many
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          2  times, if we don't have a full profile of the

          3  medications they're taking, which we wouldn't have

          4  if their mandatory mail order, we're not able to

          5  advise them correctly.  And we could even give them

          6  something that might harm them.

          7                 This is not to the best health care

          8  for these patients.  And we are all about caring for

          9  patients.  I am a store owner in the Bronx for 28

         10  years.  I have patients who are friends. I don't

         11  have patients who are customers.  They are friends.

         12  They call me.  They ask me questions about

         13  everything.

         14                 And I just want to re- emphasize, and

         15  I appreciate the fact that you are taking the

         16  initiative to try to get this resolution passed in

         17  the City Council, because I think it's an important

         18  initiative and I again, recommend that if you could

         19  support the State legislation, it would be great

         20  help for the citizens of this City.  And I thank you

         21  for your time.

         22                 MR. DETURA: My name is James Detura,

         23  and I'm President Elect of the New York City

         24  Pharmacists Society.  And Councilman Addabbo and

         25  distinguished members of the Council, fellow
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          2  pharmacists, and patrons and all supporters out

          3  there, I thank you for giving me the opportunity to

          4  speak before you this afternoon. And I was wondering

          5  how I was going to start this, and I came up with a

          6  simple line.  What price do we put on a life? What

          7  price could you possibly come up with?  And what

          8  we've heard initially from the previous speakers was

          9  at dollars and cents.  And it's practical, because

         10  things have to evolve, and there are dollars and

         11  cents issues.  But as a community pharmacist, I need

         12  to go beyond that as well.  And one real- life story

         13  that came to mind that will always be imbedded in

         14  the back of my brain, is the father of an eight or

         15  nine- year old boy who came in to get a simple

         16  prescription refilled for albuteral inhaler.  And

         17  being in the Bronx, which has a high percentage of

         18  asthma, it's a common occurrence.  And I had to go

         19  out and tell this man that his prescription cannot

         20  be refilled, because he was in a mandatory mail-

         21  order program.  And he asked me, "Well what am I

         22  supposed to do?  Is my son supposed to die?".  And I

         23  looked at him with sorry eyes, and I explained to

         24  him, I spoke to the insurance company, I tried to

         25  get some sort of an exemption, and emergency status,
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          2  something to get this prescription filled, they told

          3  me no.  As far as your insurance company is

          4  concerned sir, yes.  Your son is to die.  They don't

          5  care.

          6                 The bottom line and the light of this

          7  story is, he got the medication.  I won't go into

          8  detail as to how, but the important thing was, that

          9  this child was able to get over his acute asthma

         10  attack.

         11                 There are also other issues that

         12  you've heard, such as delivery of medications and

         13  how heat- sensitive products are in question,

         14  whether it's heat or cold.  I have been told

         15  directly by a particular shipping company, one of

         16  the big three, if you will. I don't want to mention

         17  the name.  And he came into my pharmacy, and he's

         18  checking off his list, and he said, "Well, I'm not

         19  going up there.  They're not going to be home.  I'll

         20  just jot down they're not home."  In the heat of the

         21  Summer, they're not quick to go up to five and eight

         22  story buildings if the elevator is not working, or

         23  if they need to get going.  That medication will sit

         24  on the truck overnight.  And if you're talking July

         25  and August, I hate to tell you the temperature that
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          2  those trucks can achieve.

          3                 Also, we have to consider the fact

          4  that when we try and fill prescriptions for

          5  patients, and they come in with their acute

          6  situation, whether it's an antibiotic, whether it's

          7  a cough preparation, or whatever it might be, and

          8  they're getting their maintenance medications filled

          9  through a mail- order pharmacy, we have no clues to

         10  what they're getting.  We can honestly be

         11  contributing to their emergency room set up.

         12  Because they'll take the medication, and they can go

         13  into hypertensive crisis, cardiac arrest, you pick

         14  the problem.  It can happen.  It's real.  This is

         15  not made up.  And if you check with Emergency Rooms,

         16  you'll see that these are actual events.

         17                 I also had a situation where my

         18  pharmacy is a union pharmacy.  I employ 14

         19  employees.  Not one of them can get their

         20  prescriptions filled at my pharmacy.  Somebody, if

         21  they can explain to me the logic there, I'm willing

         22  to listen.  And I have called the union directly,

         23  and you cannot even get to first base with them.  It

         24  doesn't make sense, and it continues to this day.

         25                 Patients will come back to my
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          2  pharmacy with prescriptions that they've gotten from

          3  the mail- order pharmacies, to question, "Did I get

          4  the right stuff?  Is this the right medications?

          5  Does that label match what's in the bottle?".  I'm

          6  the checkpoint.  I will always be the checkpoint.

          7  Retail community pharmacies have always been, and

          8  will always continue to be, as long as we're still

          9  there.  If we're not there, they have nothing. And

         10  when these patients get their medications, they get

         11  switched from one generic to another.  They might

         12  get switched from a brand to a generic.  In many

         13  cases, that might not be a problem.  But if the

         14  patient is on warfarin, or synthroid, that's a very

         15  big problem, even from one generic manufacturer to

         16  another.  The PBMs don't care.

         17                 Again, I mention that we, the

         18  community pharmacists, are the place to come to.  As

         19  all of you grew up coming to your pharmacists, your

         20  grandparents, your great grandparents, even with

         21  simple letters, we're the ones to explain

         22  situations.  And here we are now to explain.  And

         23  I'm willing to, as everyone else has, to address any

         24  questions anybody might have at the end of this.

         25  Thank you.
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          2                 MS. PALMA: Hello.  My name is Marisa

          3  Palma.  I am former Vice President of the New York

          4  City Pharmacists Society. And a former member of the

          5  Board of Directors of the State Society.           I

          6  am the owner of Palma Chemist Pharmacy in Park

          7  Slope, Brooklyn.  A very affluent neighborhood,

          8  which is occupied by many, many, many City

          9  employees.  Teachers.  Many members of DC 37.  Many

         10  members of the City University.  The professors.

         11                 I would like to state the crisis that

         12  I am going through right now.  Initially, when my

         13  patients were forced to mail away, they left, and

         14  they left for good.  The first time they were told

         15  that their drug was mandatory mail order, they never

         16  walked in the door again.  I lost the people that I

         17  have known since I was two years old.  As my

         18  business was established by my father in 1962, my

         19  father passed away in 1999, and I have taken over

         20  his legacy.  He was a wonderful man, and actually,

         21  we were supposed to have the street named after him,

         22  and over a small technicality, it did not occur.

         23                 I don't know what to do.  I have a

         24  very difficult time paying my bills.  And at times,

         25  such as this past week, I have had to take such as
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          2  $50,000 out of my own personal bank account, to pay

          3  my wholesalers, so that I can keep my business open.

          4    And I own my building.

          5                 We need these people back.  I have

          6  had people that I loved since I was a child, and

          7  known since I'm a child.  I knew what medications

          8  they were on in my mind.  I looked at them and I

          9  knew what I needed to do to help them.  That

         10  something was wrong. That they were being mistreated

         11  by their physicians.  And I would encourage them to

         12  please seek out advice from this doctor, or seek out

         13  advise from that doctor.

         14                 Many of those people came into my

         15  pharmacy several times a week, in order to be

         16  comforted with what they were going through.  Many

         17  of them have died now.  Because they lost their

         18  local pharmacist.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         20  much Ms. Palma. Before I get to possible questions

         21  from my colleagues, a couple of items.  This panel

         22  has brought up a very important point, that when we

         23  talk about problems with the mail order, or the

         24  mailing of prescription drugs, it is a life- and-

         25  death issue.  There is no question about it.  The
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          2  simple word of there being a problem, just that word

          3  problem, is a life- and- death issue. So again, that

          4  is of major importance to this Committee.

          5                 And aside from the cost factor, we do

          6  have other problems when there is a problem of

          7  prescription drugs.  The type of medication, the

          8  wrong medication, the fact that time is now wasted

          9  on important medication.  And due to that lack of

         10  face- to face interaction, that can cause further

         11  problems.  A number of constituents in my district

         12  have called my district office and that was one of

         13  the major ones that we've had, where the wrong

         14  medication came to their home.  And now what do they

         15  do?  So even at a local level, in my district

         16  office, we've gotten that problem.

         17                 Mr. Detura, and to an extent, to the

         18  whole panel, if you have a pharmacy, you employ

         19  people.  These people, for the most part, live in

         20  the City.  They  --  if your pharmacy is in the

         21  City, they're going to live in the City.  These are

         22  City residents.  With the increase of mail- order

         23  prescription drugs, okay, we have found that there

         24  has been a jeopardy of  --  that these jobs are in

         25  jeopardy.  Some pharmacists have to either scale
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          2  back time, scale back salaries, or lay off people

          3  Do you want to comment to that?

          4                 MR. DETURA: Absolutely.  If we can no

          5  longer fill prescriptions in the volume that we

          6  were, whatever that was, I would have to start

          7  laying people off.  The ancillary help.  The

          8  delivery service.  The front clerks.  Even the

          9  pharmacists or technicians.  We hire according to

         10  what we need.  And if we don't need one, two, or

         11  three people, depending upon what their role titles

         12  are, they will be laid off.  They will be going on

         13  the unemployment lines.  And that will become a  --

         14  a domino effect that we really don't want to see.

         15                 And you brought out a good point.

         16  All my employees are City born and raised.  Every

         17  one of them, I take out of my local community.  And

         18  I'm proud to say, a lot of them who really thought

         19  at one point they had no place to go, where were

         20  they going as far as their future, they look back

         21  and they see how they were able to make something of

         22  themselves.  Not a feather in my cap, but I think

         23  it's a feather in most independent pharmacies' caps,

         24  because I believe most of you out there that are

         25  independent pharmacists, fill this same role.  And

                                                            49

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  when you look at these people, they are making a

          3  better life for themselves.  And if they no longer

          4  have that ability, again, they have now gone back.

          5  They've gone in reverse.  And we don't want to see

          6  that happen.

          7                 MS. PALMA: I would also like to state

          8  that I have hired the mentally handicapped in my

          9  pharmacy.  I think it's very important to have them

         10  doing necessary roles.

         11                 I would also like to state that this

         12  is not just a problem that we independents are

         13  having.  My local RiteAid just laid off half its

         14  pharmacy staff.  And was forced to close its doors

         15  last week.  Because their numbers aren't up any

         16  more.

         17                 It has to change.  Please.  Okay?

         18  Give us the people back.  Let us take care of them

         19  and love them.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: And just

         21  briefly, with the increase of these mail- order

         22  prescription drugs, percentage- wise, how much has

         23  your business declined?

         24                 MS. PALMA: My business has declined

         25  approximately 50 percent because of the mandatory
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          2  mail order.  And I would also like to state that

          3  Express Scripts bullies the people into mail order.

          4  Even the teachers.  I signed a contract to be able

          5  to do the 90- day supplies.  These teachers are

          6  still being barraged by mail by Express Scripts that

          7  are demanding that they can only mail away their

          8  prescriptions.  That they cannot go back.  I put

          9  seven signs in my window that my UST people come

         10  back.  No more mandatory mail order.  I have

         11  thousands of people walk by my door every day, and I

         12  think I only got ten people who responded to my

         13  signs.  Because they were not informed by their

         14  union properly.  Because Express Scripts keeps

         15  barraging them, and barraging them.  That's the end

         16  of my comment.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: We have

         18  questions from Council Member Nelson, and Council

         19  Member Seabrook.  Council Member Nelson.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you.

         21                 I was a little taken aback, because

         22  nobody from your industry, to my knowledge, I'll

         23  have to check with my office, contacted me prior to

         24  this hearing.  Because I came here thinking Express

         25  Scripts are fine.  You know, what's the problem?  So
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          2  I would rather have understood the situation

          3  earlier.  As I look around, I see some of my friends

          4  who have pharmacies around here as a matter of fact.

          5

          6                 You've a touching testimony.  Not

          7  only did you go into why it hurts you personally,

          8  but the negative impact it has upon the population.

          9  I remember, it goes back to you were docs. Remember?

         10    You go to see doc.  In the pharmacy.  And that

         11  personal touch, which you don't get at other places,

         12  you know, just taking out Express Scripts for the

         13  moment.  We get Express Scripts in the house.  My

         14  wife is not very well.

         15                 Do you have larger fonts by the way,

         16  in your private pharmacies?  Because that was one of

         17  the problems with Express Script.  Especially people

         18  who need the medication may not be able to read the

         19  dog- gone thing.  But they did  --  they  --  nobody

         20  said  --  I was wishing they were going to be here,

         21  so I could have asked them these questions.  But

         22  since they chose not to show up, I have to just

         23  express myself about that.

         24                 But they didn't come out with that,

         25  and they made beautiful calls, I'll say that.  I
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          2  can't address the issue of money, the differentials.

          3  I don't know, whatever it is, you know, you pay, and

          4  you know, usually, you don't have a chance to check

          5  it out.  I'll take the word from the gentleman who

          6  spoke earlier, the professor.  That it's somewhat

          7  smoke and mirrors.  And that it's a better cost

          8  going through you all.

          9                 I'm trying to look for a question

         10  here.  One thing. I was told that they want you  --

         11  Express Script wants you to get an MD to write a

         12  prescription for a full year?  And I don't think

         13  most doctors would do that.  Did you get requested

         14  for that at all?

         15                 MR. DETURA: We wouldn't get requested

         16  for that. Because if we did get a request for a

         17  maintenance medication for long term, we couldn't

         18  fill it anyway.  The other part of it is, it's

         19  really not logical.  One of the problems with long

         20  term, if you get a 90- day supply, and the doctor

         21  has to change the medication for whatever reason,

         22  and let's say the patient has been using it for 30

         23  days, they're 60 days out the window.  They'll

         24  change the medication, and it's not unusual for the

         25  PBM to continue sending the other medication that

                                                            53

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  was technically discontinued. More money in their

          3  pocket.  Okay?  This happens quite often.

          4                 MR. SHEER: As a matter of fact, I had

          5  one of my patients who said she had requested of

          6  them that the doctor was trying on the medicine, and

          7  she wanted to fill it, and they said no, it had to

          8  be a mandatory.  I don't need a 90- day supply.

          9  They sent her 90 days, and subsequently, 15 days

         10  later, she was changed. Had to pay another co- pay.

         11  So I mean, that's just one of the issue.  I mean, I

         12  could regale you with stories of people who  --

         13  medicine being left in the lobbies of their

         14  apartment building. One of my customers who said he

         15  got an absolutely wrong bottle. Another customer, he

         16  got six months worth of medicine in three months

         17  time, because they just wanted to stockpile it on

         18  him.

         19                 And you know, these are all the

         20  questions  --  and plus, the confusion.  Most of our

         21  patients, you have to understand, are the elderly.

         22  You don't get sick when you're young and healthy.

         23  You get sick when you get older.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Usually.

         25                 MR. DETURA: And what happens is, we
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          2  have patients who are very confused when a

          3  medication, as Mr. Detura said, was changed, or the

          4  color or the shape, and they bring it to us to ask

          5  us these questions.  If weren't there, that is the

          6  problem.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: It's funny you

          8  should say that.  My wife just was complaining last

          9  night, she says, "Why do some of these pills look

         10  alike?"  And I said, there must be at least 20,000,

         11  at least, medications, in probably just New York

         12  city alone.  And it's difficult to make that many,

         13  you know, rectangles, and diamonds, and so on.

         14                 MR. SCHEER: May I ask you a question?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Sure.

         16                 MR. SCHEER: When that happens, who

         17  does your wife call?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Ghost busters.

         19    No, who did she call?  Actually, she didn't.  She

         20  just tried to figure it out herself.  But she

         21  doesn't see that well, which is part of the problem

         22  as well.  That's why bigger fonts, by the way, is

         23   --

         24                 MR. SCHEER: Which means, she couldn't

         25  call the mail order pharmacy, because she couldn't
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          2  accurately describe what she has.  So the chances

          3  are greater that she will come visit a local

          4  pharmacy, and say, "help, what do I do?"

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: She's a UFT

          6  retiree.  Is that what this is about?  That she  --

          7                 MR. SCHEER: This is about all

          8  mandatory mail order, whether it's UFT, DC 37, the

          9  Police unions, any mandatory mail order.  And again,

         10  to reiterate, we're not saying that patients cannot

         11  mail away their prescriptions if they choose to.

         12  But they should not be mandated to do it.  And that

         13  is one of the biggest problems.  Because they're

         14  told to do something they don't want to do.  They're

         15  uncomfortable to begin with.  Tell that to an

         16  elderly patient who has got hypertension, you've

         17  already increased her blood pressure right there.

         18  Sincerely.  My father is one of them. It will happen

         19  to him.  I've seen it.

         20                 MS. PALMA: And I'd also like to ask

         21  you.  When you do go into your local pharmacy for an

         22  emergency, prices, you have to pay a lot of money

         23  for that medication.  We're making a dollar on that

         24  medication.  Okay?  A dollar fee to fill it.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: On which
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          2  medication?  I'm sorry.

          3                 MS. PALMA: On the medication that you

          4  go in  --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: All of them?

          6                 MS. PALMA: Yes.  That's what our fee

          7  is.  A dollar, a dollar twenty- five.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: It took a lot

          9  of patients coming into that, huh?

         10                 MS. PALMA: Yes we do.  And we have a

         11  lot of expenses.  My telephone bill is $700 a month.

         12    My rent is $2,800, and I own the building.

         13  Because I have brothers.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Well, you put

         15  the human face in it, which I thought was important.

         16                 MS. PALMA: I have my Con Edison bill

         17  is $750 a month, and I don't have any neon signs

         18  outside.  And we're closed Sundays.  I hate to tell

         19  you how much my computer costs.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: And you

         21  probably have a Duanne Reed a block away, and --

         22                 MS. PALMA: I have a RiteAid six

         23  blocks away, and a Duanne Reed eight blocks away.

         24                 And I have  --  unfortunately, the

         25  RiteAid is right underneath Methodist Hospital.  And
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          2  there's a medical plaza right above it.  And most of

          3  my --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Sure.  Seventh

          5  Avenue, yes.

          6                 MS. PALMA: Most of my physicians that

          7  lived in the block, or had their offices in the

          8  block on Eighth Avenue, and up and down the streets,

          9  all moved into the medical plaza.  So it's

         10  inconvenient for their patients to walk eight, you

         11  know, to walk six blocks to me from the Methodist

         12  Hospital.  We used to see a lot of business from

         13  there.

         14                 There was another  --  the main thing

         15  is the pricing discrepancy.  With the retirees.  You

         16  know, why does Express Scripts make you pay so much

         17  money to get that prescription filled by us for one

         18  time?  Why?  Why don't they pay for it?  They don't

         19  contribute a cent.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Well, I

         21  personally want to look into it in my own household.

         22    I just didn't.  It was being done, and you know,

         23  hey.  I got enough things to do in my life with this

         24  part- time job.  Right Joe?

         25                 MS. PALMA: All they do is give us a

                                                            58

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  contract price. We have to take what they give us.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: So called.

          4  I'm sorry.  I'm sorry.

          5                 MS. PALMA: I'm sorry.  I'm just

          6  saying all we get is a contract price, which is very

          7  minimal.  You know, that whole mac story.  Okay?

          8  And a very minimal fee.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Well thank

         10  you.   That was just a personal side bar.  I'm

         11  sorry.  We have a running joke about the part- time

         12  business we're in.

         13                 Okay, but I'm going to take some time

         14  in my own house, to look into this as well.  And I

         15  thank you very much.  And for the education.  I wish

         16  I received some of it a little bit earlier.  Thank

         17  you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         19  much Council Member Nelson.  Council Member

         20  Seabrook.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Thank you

         22  very much Mr. Chairman.  And I certainly am very

         23  familiar with the issues of the local pharmacists

         24  face.  And my local pharmacist is here at the other

         25  end of the table.  But I have many friends, and some
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          2  of my close friends who own pharmacists in the Bronx

          3  and Manhattan. Congress Pharmacy, Teresa.  And so I

          4  hear this each and every day. And I understand the

          5  problems that they face, because the local

          6  pharmacist is so important to our communities.  And

          7  I say that because of the people in which they hire.

          8    Most of them live right in the community.  I mean

          9  directly within the community that I know that I see

         10  each and every day.  And I think it's important that

         11  young people who are hired there, and the crisis

         12  which we have in young people who are not employed,

         13  and I've served in the State Legislature for almost

         14  20 years before that.  And had the opportunity to be

         15  very supportive, because I know and understand and I

         16  refuse to participate in any mail order pharmacy at

         17  all.  I mean, I have never done it, and never will.

         18  Just as a principle for me.

         19                 And to see that and I represent, in

         20  two of the zip codes, probably the largest

         21  concentration of senior citizens in the City.

         22  Certainly in the Bronx.  The largest concentration.

         23  And it's a real burden and people go to where they

         24  trust people with their medication.  And they go to

         25  their local pharmacists before they would go to any
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          2  RiteAid, or any Duanne Reed, because there's a trust

          3  that exists there.  And I think it's so important

          4  that the trust, the local people who are hired, and

          5  that's very important to me.  And that's why I will

          6  only deal, as I said, with local pharmacists.

          7                 But I would hope, Mr. Chairman, that

          8  you can count on me being a prime sponsor of that

          9  resolution.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you

         11  Councilman Seabrook. Thank you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Thank you

         13  very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         15  much.  I want to thank this panel for their time and

         16  testimony.  Thank you very much, Mr. Detura.  Good

         17  luck in your new position.

         18                 MR. DETURA: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Our next panel,

         20  panel three. Diana Fristachi.  Diana please step

         21  forward.  Stu Rabinowitz.  Stu, step forward.  And

         22  please excuse me if I don't pronounce this right,

         23  Dr. Ravinder Annamaneni.  Dr. Ravinder Annamaneni.

         24                 Thank you for being here.  Just

         25  please state your full name, your affiliation, and
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          2  then give your testimony please.

          3                 MR. RABINOWITZ: My name is Stu

          4  Rabinowitz, from Kings Pharmacy.  Since we all seem

          5  like we're in agreement of why we like to have

          6  community pharmacies, I don't think I need to

          7  reiterate that.  So I'm going to go right for why

          8  mail order is not cheaper, and some of the

          9  atrocities that happen at the PBMs.

         10                 First, right in the annual statements

         11  of the PBMs, whether it be Express Scripts, or Paid,

         12  or Merck, right in their statements regarding their

         13  rebates, the manufacturer rebates, it's in black and

         14  white.  The rebate comes whether it's filled in your

         15  pharmacy locally, or if it's in mail order.   How

         16  the unions get part of that rebate, you know, that

         17  is under a secretive cloud, you know, that the CIA

         18  would be, you know, proud of.

         19                 A couple of examples of why mail

         20  order is more expensive than the local community

         21  pharmacy is, just this week, I had somebody come

         22  into my pharmacy for a prescription for seven pills

         23  of Valtrex, which is for a cold sore.  I put it

         24  through the computer, they had UFT, mandatory 90

         25  days.  I told the woman, your prescriptions only
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          2  covered, if you get 90- day supply, the doctor wants

          3  you to have seven.  How much is the prescription?

          4  It's $50. I'm not paying $50.  I'm in the union.

          5  Went back to the doctor, got a prescription for a 90

          6  pills, 90- day supply, $630.  It was good for me.  I

          7  made more money.  And that's what the PBMs do. They

          8  make more money by forcing people to get more

          9  medicine, whether they need it or not.

         10                 If someone goes to their doctor, they

         11  have a doctor's appointment in a month, they have a

         12  couple, you know, they have a month left of

         13  medicine, they know they're going to have to think

         14  about refilling their prescriptions.  It takes two,

         15  three weeks to get their prescriptions.  So a couple

         16  of weeks go by, they mail away, even though they

         17  know they're going to the doctor. Maybe the doctor

         18  will change.  Boom, they get their 90- day supply.

         19  Doctor changes.  PBMs made more money.  More volume.

         20  It's better for everybody.  Except the people who

         21  are paying for it.

         22                 I mean, right there, once you fill a

         23  prescription that's not taken, people come into my

         24  store with jars of medicines like this, filled with

         25  drugs.  I say, listen, I'm not taking it. I'll go to
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          2  jail.

          3                 That savings can never  --  you can

          4  never make that up.  Just one prescription.  With

          5  the price of drugs, you just can't make it up.

          6                 Another thing that I want to talk to

          7  about, is how the PBMs work. And I get audited from

          8  all the PBMs once a year. They go, they make the

          9  contracts with the unions, and then they come and

         10  police me.  I don't think there was anybody policing

         11  them. And that's why they got so carried away with

         12  what they do.

         13                 And finally, almost every state

         14  attorney general in the country has lawsuits against

         15  the PBMs.

         16                 One of the big problems with PBMs is

         17  something called "piggybacking".  See, they went

         18  through those examples of how a generic drug costs

         19  this, and at the local pharmacy, it's $25. At the

         20  PBM, it's $200.  What they didn't say is that very

         21  often, they'll charge the difference.  Because

         22  people come in with the bills.  Let's say I charge

         23  $25.  The union still gets billed the full $200.

         24  And they collect the difference.  That's well known.

         25                 Also, the PBMs are also accused of
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          2  switching to more profitable drugs, regardless of

          3  whether it costs the union more or less money.  So

          4  very often, they will call a doctor, and switch a

          5  drug that costs more money, because of their secret

          6  rebates that they get.

          7                 And the third thing is, each drug is

          8  identified by a unique number.  Let's say you have

          9  the same drug, and you get a 30 Tylenol bottle, a 50

         10  Tylenol bottle, a 100 Tylenol bottle. Every drug has

         11  a number, every drug has a different price.  The

         12  PBMs will often have their own number that they

         13  could use, because nobody's watching them, that have

         14  inflated prices, and that's why they could offer a

         15  higher discount.  So, they could say we're giving 30

         16  percent off of a fake price, where we're giving 15

         17  percent off of a real price.

         18                 And there's only one reason why they

         19  have a pharmacy, and that is to make money.  Not for

         20  anybody's health. That's it.

         21                 MS. FRISTACHI: Hi.  My name is Diana

         22  Fristachi.  I'm here representing my father.  He is

         23  on a mandatory mail away.  And it's been a few years

         24  now.  And because of that, I've had to get more

         25  involved in his medications.  Because it's
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          2  complicated to keep track of when to mail, when not

          3  to mail.  What's expired, what has not expired.

          4                 He has gotten wrong medication.  He

          5  has gotten letters two weeks later, saying, sorry,

          6  your prescription is not refillable.  So now, he is

          7  out of medication.  He has to go to the doctor's

          8  office.  By the time he mails it back in, and gets

          9  it back, we're talking about three weeks.  So even

         10  if we went to the pharmacy, they will allow a couple

         11  of days to hold him over, but he still has to pay a

         12  co- payment.  Which is very unfair to the consumer.

         13                 Just recently, it happened where the

         14  doctor changed his prescription, and he had a three-

         15  month supply, now he's on something else.  And not

         16  realizing that they were both the same thing, but

         17  just different strengths, he was taking both.  Well,

         18  why do I still have this?  Well, you shouldn't be

         19  taking that.  You're supposed to be taking this.

         20  That's something that the local pharmacist was

         21  doing.  Like, do you know the doctor changed your

         22  medication.  Stop taking what you're taking now.

         23  And take this.

         24                 So basically, I just wanted to

         25  comment and just tell you what was happening on a
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          2  personal level, where it's another job for me now,

          3  that I wouldn't really have to be doing.

          4                 And I also wanted to make a comment

          5  on Mr. Seabrook. He made a comment that he would

          6  never go mail order.  Which most people feel.  I

          7  would say I would never go mail order.  But when

          8  your union or your insurance company requires you to

          9  do it, you don't have a choice.  So they're not

         10  giving the consumer a choice. So basically, if I

         11  want to go to my local pharmacy, let me go. Without

         12  charging me more.  Why should I be penalized?  Thank

         13  you.

         14                 DR. ANNAMANNENI: Hi.  My name is

         15  Ravindor Annamaneni.  I'm a community pharmacists

         16  since the last nine years. Dear colleagues,

         17  businessmen, some of the patients, Honorable

         18  Chairman, distinguished guest Councilmen.  Before I

         19  continue further, I want to request to come on

         20  stage, one of my patients, Mr. Florence.  Mr.

         21  Florence is one of my best friend, and a customer.

         22  I should not say customer, because he has never

         23  received medicine from my drug store.  One good day

         24  afternoon, he came with seven, eight prescriptions.

         25  Then I explained him all the uses before I filled
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          2  it.  Then I fill it.  Then computer says, cannot be

          3  filled.  It has to be managed mail order.  Then I

          4  asked Mr. Florence, who cannot talk.  I'm sorry, he

          5  can talk, but we cannot --  it's not clear.  Then he

          6  was very angry on me.  He almost hit me.  You can

          7  ask him.  Then I told him, Mr. Florence, I explained

          8  him, Mr. Florence, you have to mail it.  He said I

          9  don't want to. Then I said, then I call his son.  I

         10  explain.  He said, my Dad doesn't want to mail.  He

         11  never did it.  I said, Mr. Florence, first of all,

         12  with some of your medicines are not fillable.  Some

         13  of the medicines are not covered.  I called the

         14  doctor.  Doctor said, can you change to this?  Then

         15  I changed to that.  It's not covered.  Then I need

         16  to click on the computer, ten times, before I tell

         17  the doctor what drug is covered by Express Scripts.

         18                 So in the end, they are getting paid

         19  but it's the service.  And I don't work on

         20  Saturdays.  Mr. Florence says, I don't want to come

         21  to your pharmacy on Saturdays, because I want to

         22  talk to only Ravi, because there's trust.  What I'm

         23  telling you is there's a trust between a pharmacist

         24  and the patients.  Which is more important, which is

         25  missing in the Express Scripts, or any mail order
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          2  companies.  Because you don't know to whom you're

          3  talking, and you don't know what medicines you're

          4  getting.

          5                 Second thing.  I have 97 years

          6  patient with David. He can't see properly.  But he

          7  can see only the way takes the medicines is by

          8  touching the shape.  Only the shape.  Not in the

          9  color.  Now, by getting the medicine from mail

         10  order, he always comes to me just to make sure he

         11  got the right medicine.  Because he can't see it.

         12  He just, he touch the  --  like triangle warfarin.

         13  He cannot talk to mail order companies about the

         14  shape. So he comes to me and asks the right

         15  medicines he got it.

         16                 So just I want to readdress that

         17  please allow the patients to have freedom of choice

         18  if they want to mail order, they can do it.  If they

         19  want to come to your community pharmacy, always,

         20  they can do so.

         21                 So Mr. Florence, for example.  If he

         22  had the questions, he cannot call Express Scripts

         23  about any of this medicines, because they don't

         24  know.  They don't understand his voice, because he

         25  doesn't have a voice.  Only thing is, he write. Now,
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          2  we are to find the computers, who can understand his

          3  writing face to face.  We are not there yet.

          4                 So, I really, strongly recommend, on

          5  behalf of all the pharmacy owners, mainly patients,

          6  it's like, touch.  I mean all the patients, whether

          7  they are here or not, these here, one of the three

          8  patients, at least I have it, but I'm sure, at least

          9  I can still, on behalf of all the customers of all

         10  the community pharmacists, every patient wanted to

         11  be here.  But they so wanted to be here.  But they

         12  cannot, because of the so many reasons.  They want

         13  to go to community pharmacy where they want to talk

         14  to their --  about their medicines, how to use it,

         15  what to do it, how to take it.

         16                 Now, I will give the mike to Mr.

         17  Florence.  Thank you very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Sir, if you

         19  could just state your whole name.  Just state your

         20  name for the record.

         21                 MR. FLORENCE: My name is Francis

         22  Florence. (Difficult to discern due to dialect in

         23  language.) (Unintelligible).

         24                 MR. ANNAMANEMI: I'm sorry.  I know

         25  his language.  I mean, I know him since almost two
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          2  years now.  I know his language. What he says is, he

          3  doesn't want to mail his prescription.  He wants to

          4  go to local neighborhood pharmacists.  For example,

          5  I never filled it so far, and once in a while, I do

          6  use service without charge, because I check his

          7  blood pressure, I check his blood sugar.  And advise

          8  him what to do.  He have a record.  I write the

          9  blood pressure record, everything.  So just he want

         10  to come and say hello to the local community

         11  pharmacist, which he has trust.  So once again, I

         12  want to reiterate, Mr. Florence words. Thank you

         13  very much sir.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: I want to thank

         15  you all for being here.  Mr. Francis, or is Francis

         16  his first name?  Okay.  I want to thank you for

         17  being here.  I'm thankful that you didn't hit the

         18  doctor in the eye, because if you did, neither of

         19  you would be here.  So I'm glad that you didn't,

         20  because that makes  -- obviously, that you're both

         21  here.  And you represent the thousands, as does Ms.

         22  Fristachi's father, represent the thousands of

         23  victims who reach the frustration that I have, in

         24  the sense that you have no choice, you are a victim

         25  out of your control, and that's what frustrates me
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          2  the most.  And that's what drives me to do this

          3  resolution to support the State Legislature.  And

          4  hopefully, we can effectuate a change for you and

          5  thousands of others who don't want the mail- order

          6  prescription drugs.  They want a choice.

          7                 So you do represent the many who

          8  deserve a choice. If you want to mail away for your

          9  prescription drugs, fine.  If you don't, you should

         10  have that choice to go see your local pharmacist.  So

         11  I do appreciate your being here.  As far as Mr.

         12  Rabinowitz, I want to personally thank you, because

         13  you and I have had conversations.  And actually, it

         14  was my first conversation with you, because a client

         15  of yours is somebody who I know, who basically

         16  started me investigating this issue.  So I want to

         17  thank you for our conversation that we had over a

         18  year ago.  And really opening up my eyes, as my

         19  personal pharmacist did as well to this issue.  So I

         20  want to thank you very much.

         21                 And just as a question for both of

         22  you who do have pharmacies.  Two questions.  How

         23  many employees do you have?  And since the increase

         24  of these mail- order prescription drugs, how much

         25  has your business, percentage wise, decreased, if
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          2  any?

          3                 MR. RABINOWITZ: I have 28 employees.

          4  And I would say, 30 percent decrease.

          5                 DR. ANNAMANENI: All over, we have 20

          6  employees in all the drug stores, sir, so we say 30

          7  percent too.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thirty percent.

          9                 DR. ANNAMANENI: And just one sentence

         10  to added. Newspapers advertised when there were

         11  Medical Express Scripts layoff the people.  A

         12  hundred people lost their jobs.  Yes, it's a big

         13  number for politicians, for public, for everybody.

         14  But if you can still find a drug store, there are

         15  more drug stores, thousands of drug stores in New

         16  York City, but consider if, for example, in this

         17  neighborhood, like we have 150 members, 150 members

         18  lay off one person, which equals to 150.  But it

         19  doesn't come to the newspaper, or it doesn't come to

         20  the attention of the politicians because, one

         21  person, who cares.  One guy lost a job.   That's not

         22  true.  It's basically a total number.  Please

         23  consider that.  Thank you very much sir.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         25  much.  We have been joined by Council Member Kendall
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          2  Stewart, who would like to make a statement at this

          3  point.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you Mr.

          5  Chair.

          6                 I did not know much about this issue

          7  being heard today, but having been a member of the

          8  medical family for some 26 years, I feel it my duty

          9  to come here and say something about this issue.

         10                 I can imagine the frustration that

         11  one would go through if they have a prescription to

         12  fill, and they wanted to cross- check to make sure

         13  that there is no interaction with other medications,

         14  and you cannot reach the physician, or to find out

         15  about this, especially if you have to do a mailing.

         16  By asking, by seeing that patient there and then,

         17  you can ask the question, and you can ascertain

         18  whether that prescription is going to be interacting

         19  with another prescription.  Or if there's a problem,

         20  that they think is contradictory to what has been

         21  prescribed.

         22                 And so, I think the mail order

         23  mandatory is something that I don't think one who is

         24  in their right mind should say it is mandatory.  If

         25  you so choose, if you so choose, it can be an
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          2  option.  But to make it mandatory, I think it's

          3  really going to create a greater problem with

          4  patients, creating room for much more errors,

          5  because the pharmacists in essence, is like a check

          6  and balance for an error that has been made by a

          7  physician.  And if we don't have that pharmacist

          8  there to at least ask questions, or cross- check, or

          9  check the records, or check the previous records, we

         10  will have greater problems.

         11                 And so, I am here to show my support

         12  that we don't really need any mandatory

         13  prescriptions.  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         15  much Council Member Stewart.  I also want to welcome

         16  a member of this Committee, Council Member Jim

         17  Gennaro.  Jim, thank you very much for being here.

         18  Chair of our Environmental Committee.  I want to

         19  thank Council Member Gennaro for allowing us to use

         20  this room.  His Committee was supposed to be in

         21  here.  He allowed us to switch, and get the smaller

         22  room.  Council Member Gennaro, I appreciate that.  To

         23  this panel, I want to thank you very much for your

         24  time and testimony today.  We will definitely keep

         25  in touch. Thank you very much.
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          2                 I'd like to call up the last panel

          3  for today.  A panel of four.  James Schiffer.

          4  Margaret Langan.  Harriet Holtzman, and Secusa --

          5  is it Nick Secusa, or Secusa Nick?

          6                 And at this point, I just want to

          7  acknowledge in the room, Mr. Ross Wallenstein.  He

          8  is a member of Congressman Gary Ackerman's office,

          9  and I want to thank Mr. Wallenstein for being here.

         10  If he could just acknowledge himself.  Is he still

         11  here?  He was here.  Was here.  Just to let you

         12  know, Congressman Ackerman had given me a call last

         13  Thursday.  He is also interested in helping out in

         14  this fight against mandatory mail order.  So I want

         15  to thank Congressman Ackerman as well.

         16                 I want to thank this panel for being

         17  here.  If we could start off with Mr. Schiffer.

         18  Just please state your full name, your affiliation,

         19  and give your testimony.

         20                 MR. SCHIFFER: My name is Jim

         21  Schiffer.  I'm an owner of Jim and Phil's Family

         22  Pharmacy.  I'm a practicing pharmacist. Graduated in

         23  1973.  I am also a practicing attorney, working on

         24  health law.  And I teach at the Arnold and Marie

         25  Schwartz College of Pharmacy, helping build new
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          2  pharmacy students.

          3                 As a pharmacy owner, I've seen a

          4  great attrition in my volume of business.  I've lost

          5  touch with the patients.  I'm operating a pharmacy

          6  in Sunset Park, where I grew up.  And I've probably

          7  seen a 40 percent decline in my pharmacy activity

          8  because of the intrusion of mail order.

          9                 I did not want to speak today.  I

         10  wanted to bring some of my patients that have their

         11  own horror stories.  My patients, unfortunately, are

         12  working right now.  Many of them are teachers,

         13  teacher's aides, City workers.  They didn't have the

         14  luxury of taking off and coming in here.  And as

         15  crowded as the room is, if you had a hearing at

         16  night, it would be mobbed.  You might need Radio

         17  City Music Hall.

         18                 Patients are furious with mail order.

         19    I have a woman that's a teacher's aide, that's in

         20  UFT, she's diabetic.  She needs a drug called

         21  Glyset.  Last December, she went through hell to

         22  obtain Glyset.  The manufacturer had a manufacturing

         23  problem. Express Scripts didn't show the courtesy to

         24  let her know that the prescription she mailed was

         25  out of stock.  When she was out of pills, she came
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          2  to our pharmacy.  And my pharmacists said, I have a

          3  bottle on the shelf.  He spent about a half an hour

          4  on the phone with Express Scripts, --  and the name

          5  is very deceiving, it should be Depress Scripts  --

          6  They did not want to give him an authorization.  She

          7  paid the 50 sum- odd dollars, got the medication,

          8  and then went through phase two of the nightmare,

          9  trying to get paid.  She never, ever got paid for

         10  the full amount. She got a partial reimbursement.

         11  In spite of the promises to the contrary that they

         12  would reimburse her.   Okay?  That's one horror

         13  story.

         14                 I have another woman that's a member

         15  of 1199.  The 1199 is the great Hospital and Health

         16  Care Workers Union.  They are now into a mandatory

         17  mail as well.  And this woman comes to me. She's on

         18  two maintenance drugs, thyroid preparation, and a

         19  blood pressure pill.  She's on Synthroid and

         20  Antinelol.  And she's been getting her medication

         21  out of pocket, because she doesn't want to trust the

         22  Medco mail order factory to deliver her medicine

         23  anymore, because the last time she got it, when it

         24  was delivered to the RiteAid, that's the way 1199

         25  works it, her pills was crushed.  And she was afraid
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          2  to just take the fragments of medication that was in

          3  the vials.  So she's paying out of pocket for her

          4  medications.

          5                 The last story I want to relate to us

          6  a story of my own dad, a retired Bridge and Tunnel

          7  Officer at the Battery Tunnel. He's required to use

          8  mandatory mail.  And he cannot get his medication

          9  from me, because the requirement is he can only get

         10  a 21- day supply.  A couple of years ago, I said,

         11   "Dad, let me see what they're charging you for your

         12  drugs".  I found a drug called isosorbite

         13  mononitrate.  For the 180 tablets that cost the

         14  retail pharmacy less than $20, he was being charged

         15  a $29 co- pay.  And his union was being charged $128

         16  more.  And mail order is supposed to save.

         17                 I just wanted to share those stories

         18  with you.  And if they really want to save money,

         19  the unions have to open their eyes to the true cost

         20  of the mail order that they're paying.  Thank you.

         21                 MS. LANGAN: Hello.  Thank you for

         22  inviting me here today.  My name is Margaret Langan,

         23  and for 19 of the last 21 years, I've been a

         24  resident of the Upper Eastside.  I live there with

         25  my husband and my two children.  My husband feels so
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          2  strongly about this issue, he took the afternoon off

          3  to watch our daughters.

          4                 I've become very familiar with the

          5  troubles associated with mail- order pharmacies,

          6  since my husband's employer, City Group, began to

          7  use Medco, first Medco, and now Express Scripts.

          8  Our current prescription plan theoretically covers

          9  three refills in any year of a given drug via the

         10  local pharmacy.  Beyond that, you need to go to the

         11  mail- order system.  The idea being, obviously, as

         12  we've talked about today, chronic needs get filled

         13  more cheaply.

         14                 Today, I'd like to address two

         15  primary issue.  First is the complete inability of

         16  at least our mail- order pharmacies to deliver an

         17  adequate level of customer service.  And second, the

         18  need for local pharmacies, which know the consumer,

         19  and that can act quickly in an emergency.

         20                 When we were first presented with the

         21  Medco option a couple of years ago, being a

         22  compliant person, I tried it.  It seemed

         23  conceptually fine.  Dial a 1- 800 number, fax things

         24  in.  No real difference from my relationship with

         25  Madison Avenue Pharmacy. I deal with them by
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          2  telephone.  My doctors call them.  They deliver.  So

          3  I thought.  I learned otherwise.  My youngest

          4  daughter suffers from asthma, as well as a number of

          5  seasonal and food allergies.  She's constantly on

          6  and off medicines.  On and off, because her doctors

          7  believe it's dangerous to perpetually fulfill a

          8  preschooler, and not a young elementary school

          9  student, with steroids and things like that.  I sent

         10  Medco a prescription for Zyrtec.  I filled one at

         11  Madison Avenue Pharmacy, assuming I would have it

         12  within the month.  She takes them for seasonal

         13  allergies. The month passed.  I phoned.  No human

         14  being.  I give up.  My husband phones.  Eventually

         15  gets a human being.  No record of our submission.

         16  Send again.  The process continues, until I receive

         17  a six- month supply of Zyrtec for $90.

         18                 The problem is, she takes the

         19  medicine for about three months at a time, and then

         20  is off it for about three or four months, or a I

         21  guess during the Winter, about five months.  The

         22  cycle repeats itself a couple of times, until she's

         23  off of Zyrtec. At least several times, I threw away

         24  bottles of Zyrtec, but at the end of this last

         25  Zyrtec episode, I sent four bottles, like this to a
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          2  girlfriend, who's son takes Zyrtec.  What a waste of

          3  money for me, a boon for my girlfriend.  But anyway.

          4                 My Flowvent issues are similar or

          5  possibly worse. When we needed  --  my daughter is

          6  on Flowvent pretty much year round.  She fluctuates

          7  between Flowvent 44 and 110, but when we needed a

          8  refill, the doctor of the prescription, we sent in,

          9  and we got six zillion Flowvents, but eventually

         10  need a refill, Doctor Meyer Katan (phonetic), at Mt.

         11  Sinai, who is the head of Pediatric Pulmonary, is

         12  our doctor, and he's been wonderful to us.  And he

         13  has a busy office, like all doctors who are stuck

         14  dealing with HMOs.  I sent them my refill form.

         15  They finally call me back, and they said, Mrs.

         16  Lattersir (phonetic), we are so sorry.  Lattersir is

         17  my married name.  We're so sorry, we can't spend all

         18  day trying to fill your prescription.  We can't get

         19  through.  We can't fax it, we can't phone it.  We

         20  can't get it through.  I said, give up. Call Madison

         21  Avenue Pharmacy.

         22                 Now when I call Madison Avenue

         23  Pharmacy, I pay full retail for my Flowvent.  And

         24  the only thing I can do about it is keep her on 110,

         25  because they charge me the same amount for 110 or
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          2  44, even though it's a higher dose.  So we play with

          3  the dosage.

          4                 In November of this year,  --  it's

          5  my last horror story  --  I developed some back

          6  issues, where I couldn't sit without the use of some

          7  heavy anti- inflammatories.  I tried them all.  I

          8  tried Mobic.  I tried Vioxx.  I tried a few others.

          9  And my back sort of got better.  Although it's in

         10  and out, but I happen to go for an annual

         11  colonoscopy, my TI count, very in a total tither,

         12  I've developed an ulcer in my colon, from all my

         13  anti inflammatories.  Maggie says, "You can't take

         14  anything except Mobic".  And he said, "When you take

         15  Mobic, you need to take it with Zantac".  He said,

         16   "You have to be very careful, you're going to

         17  ulcerate your colon".  The situation is reasonably

         18  under control.  I keep my prescription for Mobic

         19  very close, because I never know when I'm you know,

         20  going to be in you know, unending pain.

         21                 I get a letter from my friends at

         22  Express Scripts. They won't cover Mobic for me.

         23  What will they cover?  They won't tell me.  But they

         24  won't cover Mobic.  They'll cover other anti

         25  inflammatories.  Now what do I do?  Do I ask Larry
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          2  Cohen, who is a big- time doctor at Mt. Sinai to try

          3  to deal with Express Scripts, to explain to them

          4  about my ulcerated colon?  I can't call them,

          5  because I don't have a phone number.  So what do I

          6  do?  I'm going to again call Madison Avenue Pharmacy

          7  and pay full retail.  Which is basically what our

          8  family does.  And we're blessed that we can do it.

          9  My husband screams at me, but we can do it.

         10                 Now I'd like to turn away from the

         11  horror stories, and just talk to you about what I

         12  view as a need in New York City for local pharmacies

         13  with smart pharmacists.

         14                 We've been using Madison Avenue

         15  Pharmacy for about six years.  Before that, we used

         16  90th Street Pharmacy.  We used Bogner, on Park.

         17  When my girls were very little, we used King

         18  Pharmacy.  They've all been great.  During that

         19  time, my youngest daughter has been in and out of

         20  the hospital more than a half dozen times.  I've had

         21  a couple of minor surgeries, and we've all had our

         22  share of colds.  We're good customers.  We've

         23  learned first- hand why families need a pharmacist

         24  they can rely on.  And I want to give you some

         25  examples of why.
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          2                 My seven- year old's asthma and

          3  allergies change with the seasons.  And sometimes by

          4  the day.  Her condition gets better, it gets worse.

          5  When the doctor wants to change her dosage, Flowvent

          6  44 to 110, Zyrtec to Allegra, he doesn't want to

          7  wait a month for processing.  He want it delivered

          8  that afternoon and started.  I also have no idea if

          9  she'll stay on a drug for a month, a year, a few

         10  weeks.  So we need that flexibility.

         11                 When I'm home with a child who has

         12  the flu, which I was on Friday, I can't always leave

         13  to go out and buy even over the- counter drugs.  My

         14  local pharmacy will run them over.

         15                 Now I question whether my local

         16  pharmacy would do that if I didn't do other business

         17  with them, or should they. Should they if I'm not a

         18  customer?  Should they run a bottle of Tylenol for

         19  $3 over to my apartment?  I would argue not, if I'm

         20  not giving them some other business.

         21                 On two occasions, once for my

         22  husband, and once with myself, we had day surgery,

         23  late in the day.  And you know, in the hospitals

         24  now, anything constitutes day surgery.  It could be

         25  a bypass.  Each time, the doctors said, you can
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          2  leave tonight, but you have to have your pain

          3  medicines when you get home.  Now, the most recent

          4  time, my husband could barely walk.  No surprise.

          5  You can't get any pain medicine at the hospital.  So

          6  both times, the hospital was nice enough to call

          7  Madison Avenue Pharmacy, right near closing time.

          8  The prescription was filled and delivered, and we

          9  handed the script to the delivery person at the door

         10  of our apartment.

         11                 Again, we're good customers.  But

         12  would they have done that, should they have done

         13  that if I mail all my other pharmacy orders in?

         14                 Finally, I know everyone wants to go,

         15  but finally, local pharmacies feel accountable to

         16  the customer.  Once I had a doctor calls a

         17  prescription into CVS, for convenience.  The

         18  pharmacist at this high- volume CVS filled the

         19  prescription with another drug that started with the

         20  same letter of the alphabet, as my strep throat

         21  drug.  It happened to be a heart drug.  Not

         22  realizing it, I took it for a week.  Not getting any

         23  better, I returned to my doctor, who was horrified.

         24  CVS denied all responsibility.  The pharmacist was

         25  rude, obnoxious, and uncaring.
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          2                 I've also had Duanne Reed, on a late

          3  night, when my kids were babies, go in there.  Kids

          4  are sick and fussy.  Pharmacists says, it will be an

          5  hour.  I'm sorry.  We don't deliver.  No chairs

          6  available for waiting.

          7                 In summary, I pay more for my

          8  prescription drugs, because I can.  Not that I think

          9  it's right, for even a minute. And I bring you back

         10  to the fact that my husband took the afternoon off

         11  from a very busy job so that I could be here, but I

         12  get the drugs when my doctor prescribes them, and I

         13  get them on time, which is important with my kids.

         14                 My friends have similar horror

         15  stories.  And finally, when I tell people why I love

         16  living in New York, it's as much as anything, the

         17  small businesses and the local merchants that make

         18  the City different from places that are just overrun

         19  with chain stores.  We have a lot of wonderful local

         20  merchants.  And as New Yorkers, we need to find ways

         21  to support our local pharmacies, and not large,

         22  mail- order pharmacies that take jobs out of the

         23  City, and don't care about our New Yorkers.  Thank

         24  you very much for your time.

         25                 MS. HOTZMAN: Is it on?  My name is
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          2  Harriet Hotzman, and I thank you very much for

          3  letting me speak today.  I'm sorry if my comments

          4  sound a bit disorganized, but I didn't know that I

          5  was going to be speaking.  And so, bear with me

          6  please.

          7                 I'm a New York City retiree for 14

          8  years.  I worked for Health and Hospitals

          9  Corporation as a Health Analyst.  And for the most

         10  part, I must say that I've been very satisfied with

         11  the medical insurance and the prescription drug

         12  programs that I've had the benefits over the years.

         13                 Last Fall, of 2005, I received a

         14  letter from my HMO telling me that I needn't do

         15  anything to qualify for the new Medicare D program

         16  that the insurance that I have is considered

         17  creditable, and that I should just continue as

         18  before.  Except that they had one extra little thing

         19  that I should expect new enhancements, and that was

         20  their word, new enhancements to my benefits.  So I

         21  felt very good, and very secure, because I know that

         22  everyone was terribly upset about what was going to

         23  be happening with Medicare D.  No one understood it.

         24    And though I had worked in the health field for a

         25  long time, I also didn't understand it.  And so, I
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          2  was very happy that I didn't have to deal with it.

          3  Until, at the beginning of 2006, I got new member

          4  cards from my HMO, and took a look, and saw that my

          5  co- pays had been increased considerably.  And so I

          6  called to find out who was responsible for that,

          7  because nobody said anything about an increase in

          8  co- pay.  I didn't consider that an enhancement.

          9  When I studied English, an enhancement was a

         10  positive addition to a benefit, not an increase in

         11  co- pay.

         12                 I called my HMO.  I called Medicare,

         13  because they kept pointing the finger at the next

         14  one.  I called the Employees Retirement Service.

         15  Nobody accepted responsibility for authorizing an

         16  increase in my co- pay.

         17                 Then, I got another letter, and it

         18  said something about from now on, you will use

         19  Express Scripts.  I was just at the end of my

         20  monthly  --  the time for my medications, and it was

         21  time to renew.  Which, when I had a local

         22  pharmacist, I just called in the numbers, and that

         23  day, I had my new medications.  Between my husband

         24  and myself, we take close to 20 medications a month.

         25    I'm a diabetic.  I have high blood pressure.  I
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          2  have high cholesterol. And I've got liver disease.

          3  I've got all sorts of things wrong with me.

          4                 In any case, I didn't understand the

          5  business about the mail order.  I thought it was a

          6  question of choice.  But then I discovered that I

          7  was being economically blackmailed, because what

          8  they were telling me was that I could go to my local

          9  pharmacist, but I would have to pay even more than

         10  the new increase.  If I used Express Scripts, I

         11  would get a discount.  But it would still be higher

         12  than my previous co- pay.

         13                 I must say, since my husband and I

         14  are on very small fixed income, this was a terrible

         15  shock to us.  For brand prescriptions, we had to pay

         16  $10 more than we were paying before. If you're

         17  taking 20 prescriptions a month, and most of mine

         18  are brand, there are no generics that we can legally

         19  use, it's a considerable amount of money, and

         20  sometimes, it might mean the difference between

         21  having dinner and having my medication.

         22                 So I started getting very, very

         23  upset.  I called Express Scripts to find out how

         24  long it would take to get my first order.  And they

         25  said, well, since it's the first time, three to four
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          2  weeks.  I said, well, my stuff is due now, within

          3  the next week.  What do I do?  I need new

          4  medication.  They said, well, there's nothing we can

          5  do about that.

          6                 So things got very antsy, I must say.

          7    In any case, I had similar experiences to those of

          8  a lot of the people that spoke before I did.  When I

          9  needed a diabetic medication, they never notified me

         10  for two months, that it was out of stock. Another

         11  diabetic medication that I needed, I just received

         12  after having ordered it January 12th.  They were

         13  never able to explain to me why I had to wait all

         14  that time for it.  They kept telling me it had been

         15  sent.  It was never sent.

         16                 I'm drowning in paper from them,

         17  because they're constantly sending letters telling

         18  me incorrect information, like, we're very sorry we

         19  can't send you your medication.  And I received it

         20  five days prior.  Or vice versa.

         21                 In any case, it's just been a real

         22  nightmare for me. The last thing that happened to

         23  me, was that I developed severe inflammations in my

         24  thumbs from having to use the child- proof covers on

         25  the bottles.  And I called them, and I said, my
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          2  local pharmacy has bottles that are not  --  or

          3  covers, that are not child- proof, can you please

          4  send me those?  They said no, the FDA requires that

          5  when we send something through the mail, the covers

          6  be child proof.  So I hung up, and I immediately

          7  called the FDA in Washington.  And they started to

          8  laugh.  They said, we have other things to take care

          9  of.  We don't decide what kind of bottle caps go on

         10  medications.  But they were very nice, and they sent

         11  me to New York State and Pennsylvania, because

         12  that's where Express Scripts Pharmacy is, to the

         13  people who have control over the pharmaceutical

         14  industry.  And a very nice man told me that there

         15  were indeed, many, many complaints about mail- order

         16  pharmacies.  I said, I'm really delighted to hear

         17  that.  Because I thought I was really losing my

         18  grip.  Every time I called to complain about

         19  something, they would tell me, well, you're the only

         20  one who has ever complained.  We've never had

         21  another complaint.

         22                 And in any case, I didn't think I was

         23  losing it. Thank you very much.

         24                 DR. SUESA: Honorable members of the

         25  Committee, ladies and gentlemen, My name is Nick
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          2  Suesa.  Actually, it's Doctor Nick Suesa.  I'm a

          3  consultant to the pharmaceutical industry for the

          4  past, oh, I don't know how many years.  I've been a

          5  pharmacist for 33 years.  And I'm a graduate from

          6  Pharmacy of Arnold and Marie Schartz, and University

          7  of Illinois at Chicago, where I got my PharmD.

          8                 I think we can conclude from all the

          9  testimony that we've had that the mail- order

         10  pharmacy does not serve the public health.  Okay?

         11  We've heard about medical errors.  We've heard about

         12  the loss of cost and value because they dispense 90

         13  days at a time, when you only need a few pills.

         14  We've also heard about the issues of personal

         15  inconvenience.

         16                 But I would like to bring to your

         17  attention the cost of clinical consequences.   And

         18  this particular horror story, I lived through.  A

         19  gentleman by the name of Joe Halpern was on his

         20  medical benefits, and he received warfarin through

         21  the mail- order service that he had.  Which I

         22  believe was Medco.  I'm not sure.  He was doing fine

         23  for a number of years, the gentleman made his 88th

         24  year.  One evening he knocks on my door, because he

         25  knows I'm a professional person, and he is
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          2  hemorrhaging through the nose.  What had happened,

          3  after we took him to the hospital, we found out

          4  later that in switching one generic for the other,

          5  the pharmacist had made an error of going from a

          6  five milligram tablet to a ten milligram tablet.

          7  And the gentleman developed a severe haemorrhagia. Now

          8  had he been reasonable enough to pass away on time,

          9  it would not have cost us very much.  But he was

         10  ornery enough, and wanted to hold onto life to the

         11  extent that he lingered for 30 days at St. Luke's

         12  Hospital.  Now who paid for that poor man while he

         13  suffered for 30 days waiting to go on to glory? We

         14  did.  You and I did.  And that is a clinical

         15  consequence of the poor service that we receive from

         16  mail- order pharmacy.

         17                 Also, it's another awful statistic.

         18  The pharmaceutical industry spends in the area of $5

         19  billion a year to influence the prescribing habits

         20  of physicians.  So they will go from the latest and

         21  the greatest to the newer and better.  And switch

         22  back and forth.  Many times, in the process of doing

         23  this, the physician loses sight that a generic drug

         24  will do just as well. And my experience, personally,

         25  because I take a diuretic, was that I was getting
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          2  some pansy pants diuretic.  The doctor was a

          3  personal friend, and says, look, switch it to

          4  regular old Lasix, it does wonders.  Same thing.

          5  Call up the mail- order company.  Had it switched to

          6  Lasix.  The Lasix comes.  Not too bad.

          7  Unfortunately, it has to dissolve in order to affect

          8  the physical function of the body.  I was in

          9  diuresis.  I dropped a couple of these Lasix in a

         10  glass of water.  I'm still waiting for them to

         11  dissolve.

         12                 So the type of material that we

         13  receive is questionable.  Now that's not an official

         14  test, but it gives a pause for thought.

         15                 Lastly, I also had a prescription for

         16  Dexadrin, in December of this past year. I'm still

         17  waiting for the Dexadrin to come.  They do not know

         18  what how to dispense this particular drug in the

         19  case of a neurological deficit, which I have.  They

         20  can dispense a 90- day supply, in 30- days at a

         21  time.  Still waiting for that one.

         22                 And finally, every time I ask these

         23  folks to fill a prescription correctly, they

         24  continually ask for a new prescription.  To the

         25  point where my physician, Doctor Maurice Bier
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          2  (phonetic), was going out of his mind writing.  He

          3  says, listen, I'm not writing any more

          4  prescriptions.  I says, look, Maurice, please, I

          5  need this stuff.  All right.

          6                 So what happens?  They had eight

          7  individual refills that Dr. Bier wrote for this one

          8  drug.  And many, many other similar that I take.

          9  You have the problem now of what is called

         10   "conflation of refills".  Okay?  Now, let us

         11  suppose I were a dishonest person.  A thief.  And

         12  I'm going to commit fraud.  All I need is to have

         13  the material covered by a prescription.  So I deny

         14  your prescription, or I partially fill your

         15  prescription.  And then I send you something.  Okay?

         16    You seem to be happy.  You got a little something.

         17    And now I have eight different refills under which

         18  I can now purchase, through the marketplace, or sell

         19  through the marketplace, at my free will.  When you

         20  call me up, I ask you for another prescription.

         21                 So this is a very handy device if I

         22  were a thief, to commit fraud.  I'm not saying that

         23  that's going on, but I merely would like to know why

         24  every time they want you to write five refills, or

         25  three refills, and why every time you do that, you
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          2  still get asked for another prescription.  It gives

          3  me pause for thought.  Thank you gentlemen.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

          5  much.  Just a couple of quick items.  Mr.

          6  Chairperson, I want to thank you very much.  Again,

          7  we've had previous conversations as well, but to

          8  your point, that this room would be must more filled

          9  if we held it at night, yes, I agree.  And I do

         10  appreciate everyone's time here. But I encourage

         11  everyone, and if you know someone who has a horror

         12  story, or you do own a pharmacy, you have something

         13  to add, do submit it to my office in writing, or e-

         14  mail it to me, because we will make it part of this

         15  package, as we go forward in addressing this

         16  situation.  So to your point, we definitely still

         17  want to take on information.

         18                 To those who were victimized by

         19  prescription mail order, and I want to thank your

         20  husband for taking time off for you to be here, the

         21  bottom line is, thank you.  Because prior to today,

         22  I have heard, I have read about those victims of the

         23  horror stories of express mail, or mail- order

         24  prescription drugs, and the bottom line is, to see

         25  and talk to you about it face- to- face is very
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          2  important to me.  And I do appreciate your time and

          3  face- to- face interaction that we want to keep,

          4  with people going to their local pharmacy.  That's

          5  what we want.  So I thank you very much for your

          6  time and testimony.

          7                 And any questions from my colleagues?

          8    Nope.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I just felt

         10  to make this comment.  If all our pharmacists are

         11  here today, that means people out there are not

         12  getting their prescriptions.  Right?

         13                 All right.  I want to first say thank

         14  you folks for bringing this to our attention.  We

         15  are going to be trying to work closely together to

         16  make sure that at least we continue to protect the

         17  small pharmacists and have people be able to speak

         18  to the clients, and able to protect them as they

         19  bring in their prescriptions.  Thank you.

         20                 DR. SUESA: Mr. Addabbo, if I could

         21  just add.  There are 1,200 or more independent

         22  pharmacies in the City of New York. And without

         23  relief of some sort, be it the City or the State

         24  level, all of our livelihoods are challenged.  So we

         25  are there in the trenches.  And you can assure your
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          2  colleague, our pharmacies are manned.  My

          3  professionals, as we hear today.  We felt it's

          4  important enough to be here to let you know that the

          5  problem is extremely severe.  And those 1,200

          6  pharmacies in the City are able and willing to help

          7  the communities.  The problem is, or hands are tied.

          8    That the patients are being stolen away from us,

          9  as Marisa said.  Thank you for having us here.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         11  much.  Thank you.  I want to thank everyone for

         12  being here today.  We will evaluate all testimony,

         13  and as I've stated earlier, and you heard from a

         14  number of my colleagues who want to be co- sponsors,

         15  we will do a resolution in support of the State

         16  Legislature, and call into the State Legislature

         17  those sponsors of those bills, both in the Assembly

         18  and the Senate, to see if we can move that bill,

         19  those bills, which I think is very important.

         20                 But our goal here, as it was a year

         21  ago when we did the first hearing, is that of

         22  choice.  I think that's important, not only for the

         23  sake of convenience, for the sake of safety, the

         24  sake of security, to save money for the City

         25  workers, to increase revenue for the City, to save
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          2  jobs in the pharmacies, to improve health care, but

          3  most of all, because it's the right thing to do. To

          4  allow for choice of people, whatever they want to

          5  do.

          6                 Again, I thank you very much for

          7  being here.  And we will keep in touch.  I say this

          8  meeting is adjourned.  Thank you.

          9                 The following written testimony was

         10  read into the record.

         11

         12                 Written testimony of:

         13                 Reginia G. Benjamin.

         14                 Director of Government Affairs

         15                 National Community Pharmacists

         16  Association

         17

         18                 Dear Councilman Addabbo:

         19                 My name is Reginia G. Benjamin and I

         20  am Director of Government Affairs for the National

         21  Community Pharmacists Association.  The NCPA

         22  represents community pharmacists, including the

         23  owners of more than 24,000 pharmacies.  The nation's

         24  independent pharmacies, independent pharmacy

         25  franchises, and independent chains dispense nearly
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          2  half of the nation's retail prescription medicines.

          3  On behalf of our members located in New York City, I

          4  am providing comments today to strongly urge the New

          5  York City Council to discontinue the mandatory mail-

          6  order program and adopt legislation to provide

          7  consumer access to pharmacy benefits and regulate

          8  pharmacy benefit managers.

          9                 NCPA is opposed to mandatory mail

         10  order because it takes the choice of provider from

         11  the patient, interferes with the patient/pharmacist

         12  relationship and is usually not more convenient for

         13  a client.  Mandatory mail order is a strong

         14  disencentive for your constituents to continue their

         15  relationship with their pharmacist, a state licensed

         16  health care professional.  NCPA believes in and

         17  defends the right of the consumer to chose where to

         18  obtain their medications, either from a local

         19  licensed community pharmacy, with licensed

         20  pharmacists, or a mail order facility, licensure of

         21  the pharmacists is unknown by the consumer and the

         22  state, without having to pay an economic penalty.

         23                 NCPA believes that mail- order drug

         24  programs represent a serious threat to public

         25  health.  It is not possible for mail- order drug
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          2  vendors, which lack face- to- face contact with

          3  patients, to comprehensively monitor their patients'

          4  health status, gather information on the full

          5  spectrum of their prescription and nonprescription

          6  drug use patterns, or adequately assess their

          7  understanding and compliance with drug therapy.

          8                 NCPA questions the integrity of a

          9  drug distribution system that relies exclusively on

         10  the mails and in which drugs were dispensed in

         11  excessive volume, over long distances, often exposed

         12  to extreme temperatures or humidity, delayed, and

         13  otherwise compromised.  There are inherent problems

         14  when you rely on this type of delivery system which

         15  pose safety issues and for that reason alone use of

         16  the mails cannot be considered "quality

         17  improvement".

         18                 Lastly, NCPA is greatly concerned

         19  with the "self dealing" aspect of allowing a

         20  pharmacy benefit manager (PBM), un unregulated

         21  entity in New York, to refer to its own wholly-

         22  owned mail order pharmacy.  Under separate cover, I

         23  will send you a copy of a paper entitled, "The cost

         24  of PBM "self- dealing" under a Medicare prescription

         25  drug benefit",  by James Langenfeld and Robert
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          2  Maness.  While some states have enacted laws to

          3  regulate PBMs, New York does not currently regulate

          4  them.  In addition, PBMs are the subject of numerous

          5  lawsuits and currently under investigation by the

          6  U.S. Justice Department and several state

          7  governments.  Under separate cover, I will send a

          8  copy of a paper prepared by David Balto, Esq. For

          9  the National Legislative Association on Prescription

         10  Drug Prices of proactive litigation against PBMs.

         11                 As you know, New York was one of 20

         12  states in the 2004 Consent Order settlement of

         13  Medco, a PBM, which involved, among other things,

         14  concerns about switching of medication by the PBM

         15  without approval of the prescriber.  In addition,

         16  issues of lack of transparency and the need for

         17  disclosure were addressed in the settlement.

         18                 In conclusion, NCPA does not support

         19  mandatory mail order for the following reasons:

         20                 Mail order is not more convenient for

         21  the client.

         22                 Mail order is not necessarily more

         23  cost effective for the payor.

         24                 Mail order is more likely to fill

         25  more prescriptions with brand name drugs over
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          2  generics, because of the financial incentives

          3  provided to the PBMs by the manufacturers.

          4                 Our pharmacists, your constituents,

          5  report to us that patients that are in mail- order

          6  programs are often confused by the written

          7  instructions that they receive with the mail- order

          8  purchases and seek an explanation and/or advice from

          9  our pharmacists.

         10                 Often the mail- order prescription

         11  does not arrive in a timely manner and patients come

         12  to our pharmacists to obtain enough medication until

         13  the mail order arrives.

         14                 Mail order is not safe, and can pose

         15  a health risk.

         16                 PBMs that own the mail order facility

         17  and also administer the mail- order program benefit

         18  have an inherent conflict of interest.

         19                 PBMs that operate the mail- order

         20  facility are not regulated in New York.

         21                 The pharmacists employed by the mail-

         22  order facility are most likely not licensed in New

         23  York.

         24                 As a regulatory entity, you do not

         25  have any control over who is actually filling and
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          2  verifying the prescription.  Is each prescription

          3  filled by a pharmacist and does the pharmacist

          4  verify the accuracy of the filled prescription prior

          5  to it being mailed?  Where is the pharmacist

          6  licensed?

          7                 Mail- order pharmacies tend to

          8  dispense larger quantities, which can lead to

          9  overuse.  Larger quantities may also increase costs

         10  from waste if a patient's drug therapy is changed or

         11  stopped shortly after it is dispensed.

         12                 Mail- order pharmacy moves

         13  prescription revenue from local pharmacies to other

         14  states which can have a negative impact on local

         15  communities.

         16                 When consumers are required to use

         17  mail order than local pharmacies may be forced to

         18  reduce hours or workforce and the result is that the

         19  entire community will have limited access to the

         20  pharmacy.

         21                 The Council of the City of New York

         22  should not continue to disadvantage community

         23  pharmacy in favor of mail order. Specifically

         24  copayment and days of supply should be consistent

         25  and instructions to clients would describe the
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          2  option in neutral terms.

          3                 We have enclosed a draft of a

          4  legislative proposal to provide consumer access to

          5  pharmacy benefits.  We ask that you consider it for

          6  adoption.  Finally, under separate cover, I will

          7  send for your consideration a copy of NCPA's Model

          8  PBM legislation.

          9                 Thank you for your opportunity to

         10  comment.

         11                 (Hearing concluded at 3:00 p.m.)
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